

On the integration of *L*⁰-Banach *L*⁰-modules and its applications to vector calculus on RCD spaces

Emanuele Caputo¹ · Milica Lučić² · Enrico Pasqualetto³ · Ivana Vojnović^{2,4}

Received: 1 September 2023 / Accepted: 24 April 2024 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{}}$ The Author(s) 2024

Abstract

A finite-dimensional RCD space can be foliated into sufficiently regular leaves, where a differential calculus can be performed. Two important examples are given by the measure-theoretic boundary of the superlevel set of a function of bounded variation and the needle decomposition associated to a Lipschitz function. The aim of this paper is to connect the vector calculus on the lower dimensional leaves with the one on the base space. In order to achieve this goal, we develop a general theory of integration of L^0 -Banach L^0 -modules of independent interest. Roughly speaking, we study how to 'patch together' vector fields defined on the leaves that are measurable with respect to the foliation parameter.

Keywords L^0 -Banach L^0 -module \cdot Integration \cdot RCD space \cdot BV function \cdot Needle decomposition

Mathematics Subject Classification $\ 28A50\cdot 53C23\cdot 26A45$

Emanuele Caputo emanuele.caputo.9jjd@gmail.com

> Milica Lučić milica.lucic@dmi.uns.ac.rs

> Enrico Pasqualetto enrico.e.pasqualetto@jyu.fi

Ivana Vojnović ivana.vojnovic@dmi.uns.ac.rs

- ¹ Mathematics Institute, University of Warwick, Zeeman Building, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK
- ² Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Faculty of Sciences, University of Novi Sad, Trg Dositeja Obradovića 3, Novi Sad, Serbia
- ³ Department of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Jyväskylä, P.O. Box 35 (MaD), 40014 Jyväskylä, Finland
- ⁴ Mathematical Institute, University of Wroclaw, pl. Grunwaldzki 2/4, 50-384 Wroclaw, Poland

Contents

1	Introduction
2	Preliminaries
	2.1 Integration and disintegration of measures
	2.2 The theory of L^0 -Banach \mathscr{A} -modules
	2.2.1 L^0 -Banach L^0 -modules with respect to a submodular outer measure
	2.3 Calculus on metric measure spaces
	2.3.1 Functions of bounded variation on PI spaces
	2.4 Calculus on RCD spaces
3	Integration of L^0 -Banach L^0 -modules
	3.1 Disintegration of a module with respect to a disjoint measure-valued map
4	Applications to vector calculus on RCD spaces
	4.1 Vector fields on the superlevel sets of a BV function
	4.2 Vector fields on the integral lines of a gradient
	4.3 Unit normals and gradient lines
Re	eferences

1 Introduction

In the setting of metric measure spaces, the theory of L^0 -normed L^0 -modules was introduced by Gigli in [27] and later refined in [26]. The goal was to develop a vector calculus in this nonsmooth framework, which could provide effective notions of measurable 1-forms and vector fields. Indeed, one of the main objects of study in [26, 27] is the *cotangent module* $L^0(T^*X)$ over a metric measure space (X, d, m), which is built upon the Sobolev space $W^{1,2}(X)$ and comes naturally with a differential operator d: $W^{1,2}(X) \rightarrow L^{\hat{0}}(T^*X)$. By duality, one then defines the *tangent* module $L^{0}(TX)$. Both $L^{0}(T^{*}X)$ and $L^{0}(TX)$ are $L^{0}(\mathfrak{m})$ -Banach $L^{0}(\mathfrak{m})$ -modules, see Definition 2.13. The study of tangent and cotangent modules had remarkable analytic and geometric applications in the field of analysis on metric measure spaces, especially in the fast-developing theory of metric measure spaces verifying synthetic Riemannian Ricci curvature lower bounds, the so-called RCD spaces (see the survey [2] and the references therein indicated). Due to this reason, the technical machinery we develop in this paper is for L^0 -Banach L^0 -modules over a σ -finite measure space. However, the language of L^0 -normed L^0 -modules is used in other research fields as well. Let us give a brief historical account about other independent developments on the theory of L^0 -normed L^0 -modules. The notion of $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -normed $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -module in the sense of Gigli [27] is exactly the notion of a random normed module over \mathbb{R} with base $(X, \Sigma, \mathfrak{m})$ (RN module in short) that Guo introduced after the previous work on probabilistic metric spaces by Schweizer and Sklar [47]. We refer the reader to Guo's contributions [31-36]. In these series of works as well as in many other papers, Guo and his coauthors studied—in the case of σ -finite measure spaces—functional properties of RN modules and random inner product spaces. Several topologies on the module structure are studied. The concept of random inner product spaces shares similarities with the functional-analytic machinery developed to study the modules $L^0(T^*X)$ and $L^{0}(TX)$ in the infinitesimal Hilbertian setting in [27]. For another independent work see also the work by Haydon, Levy and Raynaud [37]. For the purpose of this paper,

since our study is motivated by application to RCD theory and nonsmooth differential geometry, we use the language in [27].

Let us consider a *disjoint measure-valued map* $q \mapsto \mu_q$ on a measurable space (X, Σ) . Roughly speaking, the measures μ_q are concentrated on pairwise disjoint measurable subsets of X and vary in a measurable way with respect to the parameter $q \in Q$, where (Q, Q, q) is a given measure space; see Definition 2.3. In Definition 3.1 we propose a notion of L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle $(\{\mathcal{M}_q\}_{q\in Q}, \Theta, \Phi)$ consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$. Shortly said, each \mathcal{M}_q is an $L^0(\mu_q)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu_q)$ -module, while Θ and Φ are families of *test sections* and *test functions*, respectively, which are used to declare which sections $Q \ni q \mapsto v_q \in \mathcal{M}_q$ are measurable. The space of all measurable sections of $(\{\mathcal{M}_q\}_{q\in Q}, \Theta, \Phi)$ is then denoted by $\int \mathcal{M}_q dq(q)$ and called the *integral* of $(\{\mathcal{M}_q\}_{q\in Q}, \Theta, \Phi)$; see Definition 3.4. The space $\int \mathcal{M}_q dq(q)$. Conversely, it is also possible to *disintegrate* a given countably-generated $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module \mathcal{M} , thus obtaining an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle whose integral is the original space \mathcal{M} ; this claim is proved in Theorem 3.8 (and see also Theorem 3.9).

We now discuss the applications of the above machinery to the vector calculus on metric measure spaces verifying lower Ricci bounds. Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space, where $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$. We focus on two different classes of foliations (of a portion) of X: the codimension-one *level sets* of a function of bounded variation (BV function, for short) and, somehow dually, the one-dimensional *needle decomposition* induced by a Lipschitz function. More in details:

(a) The *Fleming–Rishel coarea formula* proved by Miranda Jr. in [43] states that, given a BV function $f \in BV(X)$, the total variation measure |Df| coincides with the 'superposition' $\int_{\mathbb{R}} P(\{f > t\}, \cdot) dt$ of the perimeter measures of the superlevel sets $\{f > t\}$; see Theorem 2.22. The fact that the level sets $\{f > t\}$ can be regarded as codimension-one objects is corroborated by the results of [1] (see also [13]). Moreover, as shown in [21], the regularity of RCD spaces guarantees that (sufficiently many) vector fields can be 'traced' over the essential boundary of a set of finite perimeter *E*, thus obtaining the space $L^0_{P(E,\cdot)}(TX)$. In particular, one can define the *unit normal* $v_E \in L^0_{P(E,\cdot)}(TX)$ to *E*, as proved in [14]. More generally, one can construct the space of |Df|-a.e. defined vector fields $L^0_{|Df|}(TX)$ whenever $f \in BV(X)$, see [12]. With this said, in Theorem 4.4 we will prove that

$$L^0_{|Df|}(T\mathbf{X}) \cong \int L^0_{P(\{f > t\}, \cdot)}(T\mathbf{X}) \,\mathrm{d}t \quad \text{for every } f \in BV(\mathbf{X}), \tag{1.1}$$

once the family $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto L^0_{P(\{f > t\},\cdot)}(TX)$ is made into an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle, in a suitable way. To be precise, (1.1) is not entirely correct as it is written, since the measure-valued map $t \mapsto P(\{f > t\}, \cdot)$ is not necessarily disjoint due to the possible presence of the jump part of |Df|; this technical subtlety will be dealt with in Proposition 4.3. Notice that one can regard (1.1) as a Fubinitype theorem for measurable vector fields. Similar results, but without integrals of $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -modules, previously appeared in [9] (for the squared distance functions from a point) and in [12] (for arbitrary BV functions). (b) Klartag's localisation technique [40] has been generalised from the Riemannian setting to metric measure spaces verifying synthetic lower Ricci bounds, see the survey [16] and the references therein. Given a 1-Lipschitz function u: X → ℝ, the so-called *transport set* T_u can be partitioned (up to m-null sets) into the images X_α of suitable geodesics γ_α, which are the gradient flow lines of −∇u in a suitable sense. The restriction m|_{Tu} of the reference measure m to T_u can be disintegrated as m|_{Tu} = ∫ m_α dq(α), where each m_α = h_α H¹ is a measure concentrated on X_α. As proved in [18], the 'needles' (X_α, d, h_α H¹) are RCD(K, N) spaces. The intuition suggests that the tangent module L⁰(TX_α) is one-dimensional and that a Lipschitz function f : X → ℝ induces a vector field ∂_α f ∈ L⁰(TX_α), which is obtained by differentiating f ∘ γ_α. This is made precise by Theorem 4.5, which says that

$$\int L^0(T\mathbf{X}_\alpha) \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(\alpha) \cong \langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u},\tag{1.2}$$

where $\langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u} \subseteq L^0(TX)$ is the $L^0(\mathfrak{m}|_{\mathcal{T}_u})$ -Banach $L^0(\mathfrak{m}|_{\mathcal{T}_u})$ -module generated by ∇u , and for any Lipschitz function $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ the superposition $\int \partial_\alpha f \, d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha) \in \int L^0(TX_\alpha) \, d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha)$ corresponds, via the identification in (1.2), to the element $-\langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \nabla u \in \langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u}$.

Finally, in Theorem 4.9 we combine the two different foliations of X we described above. Assuming $\mathfrak{m}(X) < +\infty$ for simplicity and fixed a 1-Lipschitz function $u: X \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ with $\mathfrak{m}(X \setminus T_u) = 0$, we know from Theorems 4.4 and 4.5 that $\int P(\{u > t\}, \cdot) dt \cong L^0(TX)$ and $\int L^0(TX_\alpha) d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha) \cong \langle \nabla u \rangle_X$, respectively. Via these identifications, we can prove that $\int \partial_\alpha u d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha)$ corresponds to $-\int v_{\{u>t\}} dt$.

2 Preliminaries

Throughout the whole paper, our standing convention (unless otherwise specified) is that

all the measures under consideration are σ -finite.

Moreover, in this paper a ring R is not assumed to have a multiplicative identity. However, when the identity 1_R exists, then we require that each R-module M verifies $1_R \cdot v = v$ for every $v \in M$.

Given a collection of non-empty sets $A_{\star} = \{A_q\}_{q \in Q}$, we define the space of its sections as

$$\mathscr{S}(A_{\star}) := \prod_{q \in Q} A_q.$$

In the case where each A_q is a ring (resp. a vector space), the product space $\mathscr{S}(A_{\star})$ is a ring (resp. a vector space) with respect to the componentwise operations.

Remark 2.1 Let $R_{\star} = \{R_q\}_{q \in Q}$ be a collection of commutative rings. For any $q \in Q$, let M_q be a module over R_q . Then $\mathscr{S}(M_{\star})$ has a natural structure of module over the ring $\mathscr{S}(R_{\star})$.

Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space. Let $A_{\star} = \{A_q\}_{q \in Q}$ be rings (resp. vector spaces). Then

$$N_{\mathfrak{q}} := \left\{ v \in \mathscr{S}(A_{\star}) \mid \{ q \in Q : v_q \neq 0 \} \subseteq N \text{ for some } N \in \mathcal{Q} \text{ with } \mathfrak{q}(N) = 0 \right\}$$

is a two-sided ideal (resp. a vector subspace) of $\mathscr{S}(A_{\star})$. Therefore, the quotient space

$$\mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(A_{\star}) := \mathscr{S}(A_{\star})/N_{\mathfrak{q}}$$

is a ring (resp. a vector space). We denote by $\pi_{\mathfrak{q}} \colon \mathscr{S}(A_{\star}) \to \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(A_{\star})$ the quotient map.

According to this notation, we denote by $\mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathbb{R})$ the set of all the (possibly non-measurable) functions from Q to \mathbb{R} , quotiented up to q-a.e. equality.

Remark 2.2 Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space and let R_{\star} , M_{\star} be as in Remark 2.1. Then the vector space $\mathscr{S}_{q}(M_{\star})$ inherits a natural structure of module over the ring $\mathscr{S}_{q}(R_{\star})$.

2.1 Integration and disintegration of measures

Let (X, Σ, μ) be a measure space. Then we denote by $L^0(\mu)$ the space of all real-valued measurable functions on X, quotiented up to μ -a.e. identity. The space $L^0(\mu)$ is a Riesz space, where we declare that $f, g \in L^0(\mu)$ satisfy $f \leq g$ if and only if $f(x) \leq g(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in X$. Moreover, $L^0(\mu)$ is Dedekind complete, which means that every order-bounded set $\{f_i\}_{i \in I} \subseteq L^0(\mu)$ admits both a supremum $\bigvee_{i \in I} f_i \in L^0(\mu)$ and an infimum $\bigwedge_{i \in I} f_i \in L^0(\mu)$ (see for instance [24]). We also denote by $\mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ the space of all real-valued measurable functions on X, while π_{μ} (or $[\cdot]_{\mu}$) stands for the canonical projection map $\mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma) \to L^0(\mu)$. Given any $E \subseteq X$, we denote by $\mathbb{1}_E$ its characteristic function. If $E \in \Sigma$, then we denote $\mathbb{1}_E^{\mu} := [\mathbb{1}_E]_{\mu}$.

The space $L^0(\mu)$ becomes a complete topological vector space and topological ring if endowed with the topology that is induced by the following distance:

$$\mathsf{d}_{L^0(\mu)}(f,g) := \int |f-g| \wedge 1 \, \mathrm{d}\tilde{\mu} \quad \text{for every } f,g \in L^0(\mu),$$

where $\tilde{\mu} \ge 0$ is some finite measure on (X, Σ) with $\mu \ll \tilde{\mu} \le \mu$. When μ is finite, we take $\tilde{\mu} = \mu$.

We define a notion of a disjoint measure-valued map, which we will use throughout the paper:

Definition 2.3 (Measure-valued map) Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space and (X, Σ) a measurable space. Let $\mu_{\star} = {\mu_q}_{q \in Q}$ be a collection of measures on (X, Σ) . Then

we say that $q \mapsto \mu_q$ is a *(measurable) measure-valued map* from Q to X provided the following conditions hold:

- i) The function $Q \ni q \mapsto \mu_q(E) \in [0, +\infty]$ is measurable for every $E \in \Sigma$.
- ii) The measure $\mu := \int \mu_q \, dq(q) \colon \Sigma \to [0, +\infty]$ is σ -finite, where we define

$$\left(\int \mu_q \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q)\right)(E) := \int \mu_q(E) \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) \quad \text{for every } E \in \Sigma.$$

We say that $q \mapsto \mu_q$ is a *disjoint* measure-valued map if there exists a family $\{E_q\}_{q \in Q} \subseteq \Sigma$ of pairwise disjoint sets such that $\mu_q(X \setminus E_q) = 0$ for every $q \in Q$ and $\bigcup_{a \in A} E_q \in \Sigma$ for every $A \in Q$.

If $f: X \to [0, +\infty]$ is measurable, then $Q \ni q \mapsto \int f \, d\mu_q \in [0, +\infty]$ is measurable and

$$\int f \,\mathrm{d}\mu = \int \left(\int f \,\mathrm{d}\mu_q\right) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q).$$

The verification of this claim can be obtained by using the monotone convergence theorem.

Example 2.4 Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space. Let us also consider the one-point probability space ($\{0\}, \delta_0$). Then $q \mapsto \delta_{(q,0)}$ is a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to $Q \times \{0\}$ and

$$\mathfrak{q}\otimes\delta_{\mathsf{o}}=\int\delta_{(q,\mathsf{o})}\,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q).$$

Notice also that the measure $q \otimes \delta_0$ can be canonically identified with q.

Remark 2.5 Given any outer measure ν on X, the following implication holds:

$$\mu_q \ll \nu \text{ for } \mathfrak{q}\text{-a.e. } q \in Q \implies \int \mu_q \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) \ll \nu.$$
(2.1)

Indeed, if $N \in \Sigma$ satisfies $\nu(N) = 0$, then trivially $\left(\int \mu_q \, d\mathfrak{q}(q)\right)(N) = \int \mu_q(N) \, d\mathfrak{q}(q) = 0.$

Definition 2.6 Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Then we define $L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_\star)) := \pi_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathcal{L}^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_\star)))$, where $L^0(\mu_\star) := \{L^0(\mu_q)\}_{q \in Q}$ and

$$\mathcal{L}^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star})) := \left\{ f \in \mathscr{S}(L^{0}(\mu_{\star})) \mid \exists F \in \mathcal{L}^{0}(\Sigma) : [F]_{\mu_{q}} = f_{q} \text{ for } \mathfrak{q}\text{-a.e. } q \in Q \right\}.$$

We have that, letting $\mu := \int \mu_q \, dq(q)$ for brevity, the following identification is in force:

$$L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_\star)) \cong L^0(\mu).$$

The following result makes this assertion precise:

Proposition 2.7 Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Let us define the mapping $\tilde{i}_{\mathfrak{q}}: \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma) \to \mathcal{L}^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_\star))$ as

$$\tilde{i}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\bar{F})_q := [\bar{F}]_{\mu_q} \text{ for every } \bar{F} \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma) \text{ and } q \in Q.$$

Moreover, letting $\mu := \int \mu_q \, d\mathfrak{q}(q)$, we define $\mathfrak{i}_{\mathfrak{q}} \colon L^0(\mu) \to L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_\star))$ as

$$i_{\mathfrak{q}}(F) := \pi_{\mathfrak{q}}(\tilde{i}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\bar{F}))$$
 for every $F \in L^{0}(\mu)$ and $\bar{F} \in \mathcal{L}^{0}(\Sigma)$ such that $F = [\bar{F}]_{\mu}$.

Then i_q is a linear and ring isomorphism. We denote by $j_q: L^0(q; L^0(\mu_\star)) \to L^0(\mu)$ its inverse.

Proof The map i_q is well-defined. Indeed, let $\bar{F}_1, \bar{F}_2 \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ be such that $[\bar{F}_1]_{\mu} = [\bar{F}_2]_{\mu} = F$. In particular, $[\bar{F}_1]_{\mu_q} = [\bar{F}_2]_{\mu_q}$ for q-a.e. q. Hence, $\pi_q(\tilde{i}_q(\bar{F}_1)) = \pi_q(\tilde{i}_q(\bar{F}_2))$. The fact of being a linear and ring homomorphism follows directly from similar properties for $[\cdot]_{\mu,}[\cdot]_{\mu_q}, \pi_q$. We check surjectivity. Let $f \in L^0(q; L^0(\mu_*))$ and let $\bar{f} \in \mathcal{L}^0(q; L^0(\mu_*))$ be such that $f = \pi_q(\bar{f})$. Hence, there exists $\bar{F} \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ such that $[\bar{F}]_{\mu_q} = \bar{f}_q$ for q-a.e. $q \in Q$. Define $F := [\bar{F}]_{\mu}$. Then, it can be readily checked that $i_q(F) = f$.

Lemma 2.8 Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space and (X, Σ) a measurable space. Let $q \mapsto \mu_q$ be a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Let $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ and $F \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ be given, where we denote $\mu := \int \mu_q d\mathfrak{q}(q)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

i) $F(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(x)$ for μ -a.e. $x \in X$. ii) For q-a.e. $q \in Q$, it holds that $F(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(x)$ for μ_q -a.e. $x \in X$.

Proof First of all, we point out that for any given set $N \in \Sigma$ it holds that

 $\mu(N) = 0 \iff \mu_q(N) = 0 \text{ for } q\text{-a.e. } q \in Q.$

The validity of this claim immediately follows from the identity $\mu(N) = \int \mu_q(N) dq$ (q). In order to conclude, choose as N the set of all $x \in X$ such that $(F_n(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ does not converge to F(x).

Remark 2.9 Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, and $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Fix a measurable function $\phi: Q \to (0, 1)$ such that $\int \phi \, d\mathfrak{q} < +\infty$ and define $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}} := \phi \, \mathfrak{q}$. Next, fix any $\rho: X \to (0, 1)$ measurable such that $\int \int \rho \, d\mu_q \, d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}(q) < +\infty$. Therefore, letting $\tilde{\mu}_q := \rho \mu_q$, we have that $q \mapsto \tilde{\mu}_q$ is a disjoint measure-valued map and set $\tilde{\mu} := \int \tilde{\mu}_q \, d\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}(q)$. Since (almost) all the measures we marked with a tilde are finite, and we have

$$\mathfrak{q} \ll \tilde{\mathfrak{q}} \leq \mathfrak{q}, \quad \mu \ll \tilde{\mu} \leq \mu, \quad \mu_q \ll \tilde{\mu}_q \leq \mu_q$$

by construction, it will not be restrictive to assume that the measures q, μ , μ_q are finite.

2.2 The theory of *L*⁰-Banach *A*-modules

By an algebra we mean an associative, commutative algebra over the real field \mathbb{R} that is not necessarily unital. In particular, an algebra is both a vector space and a ring (possibly without a multiplicative identity). By a subalgebra we mean a subset that is closed under the vector space and ring operations. For example, given any measure space (X, Σ, μ) , the space $L^0(\mu)$ is a unital algebra whose multiplicative identity is \mathbb{I}_X^{μ} . Our choice of this not-so-standard convention, but which is typical in analysis on metric measure spaces (cf. for example [46]), is motivated by the fact that – due to integrability issues when the reference measure is not finite – it is necessary to work with algebras of functions (such as LIP_{bs}(X) or Test(X)) that are not unital (unless the metric space X is bounded).

Observe that if (X, Σ, μ) is a measure space and \mathscr{A} is a subalgebra of $L^0(\mu)$, then the space

$$\mathcal{G}(\mathscr{A}) := \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{E_n}^{\mu} f_n \; \middle| \; (E_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Sigma \text{ partition of X}, \; (f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathscr{A} \right\}$$

is a subalgebra of $L^0(\mu)$. Moreover, the space $\hat{\mathscr{A}}$ is a subalgebra of $L^0(\mu)$ as well, where we set

$$\hat{\mathscr{A}} := \mathrm{cl}_{L^{0}(\mu)} \big(\mathcal{G}(\mathscr{A}) \big).$$

Remark 2.10 Given any subalgebra \mathscr{A} of $L^0(\mu)$, one can easily check that

$$\hat{\mathscr{A}} \cong L^0(\mu|_{[\mathscr{A}]}),$$

where $[\mathscr{A}] \in \Sigma$ is $(\mu$ -a.e.) defined as the essential union of $\{f > 0\}$ as f varies in \mathscr{A} .

Example 2.11 The field \mathbb{R} is canonically isomorphic to the subalgebra \mathbb{R}_{μ} of $L^{0}(\mu)$ given by

$$\mathbb{R}_{\mu} := \left\{ \lambda \mathbb{1}_{X}^{\mu} \in L^{0}(\mu) \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{R} \right\}.$$

Observe also that $\hat{\mathbb{R}}_{\mu} = L^{0}(\mu)$ thanks to Remark 2.10.

Next, let us introduce a notion of L^0 -normed \mathscr{A} -module that is a generalization of [26, Definition 2.6] and can be seen as a special case of a RN space in the sense of [32, Definition 3.1] with the additional assumption of module structure over an algebra $\mathscr{A} \subseteq L^0(\mu)$.

Definition 2.12 $(L^0(\mu)$ -normed \mathscr{A} -module) Let (X, Σ, μ) be a measure space. Let $\mathscr{A} \subseteq L^0(\mu)$ be a subalgebra. Let \mathscr{M} be both a module over \mathscr{A} and a vector space over \mathbb{R} (with the same addition operator). Then we say that a map $|\cdot| : \mathscr{M} \to L^0(\mu)$ is a *pointwise norm* if

$$\begin{aligned} |v| &\geq 0 \text{ for every } v \in \mathscr{M}, \text{ with equality if and only if } v = 0, \\ |v + w| &\leq |v| + |w| \text{ for every } v, w \in \mathscr{M}, \\ |\lambda v| &= |\lambda| |v| \quad \text{for every } \lambda \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } v \in \mathscr{M}, \\ |f \cdot v| &= |f| |v| \text{ for every } f \in \mathscr{A} \text{ and } v \in \mathscr{M}, \\ (\lambda f) \cdot v &= \lambda (f \cdot v) \text{ for every } \lambda \in \mathbb{R}, f \in \mathscr{A}, \text{ and } v \in \mathscr{M}, \end{aligned}$$

where all equalities and inequalities are intended in the μ -a.e. sense. Whenever \mathcal{M} is endowed with a pointwise norm $|\cdot|$, we say that \mathcal{M} is an $L^0(\mu)$ -normed \mathcal{A} -module.

Notice that if $\mathbb{1}_X^{\mu} \in \mathscr{A}$, then $\mathbb{1}_X^{\mu} \cdot v = v$ for every $v \in \mathscr{M}$, whence it follows that

$$\lambda v = (\lambda \mathbb{1}_X^{\mu}) \cdot v \quad \text{for every } \lambda \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } v \in \mathcal{M}.$$

Each pointwise norm $|\cdot| : \mathcal{M} \to L^0(\mu)$ induces a distance $d_{\mathcal{M}}$ on \mathcal{M} , in the following way:

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathscr{M}}(v,w) := \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}(\mu)}(|v-w|,0) \quad \text{for every } v, w \in \mathscr{M}.$$
(2.2)

We consider \mathcal{M} endowed with the distance $d_{\mathcal{M}}$ (and the induced topology).

Definition 2.13 $(L^0(\mu))$ -Banach \mathscr{A} -module) Let (X, Σ, μ) be a measure space and $\mathscr{A} \subseteq L^0(\mu)$ a subalgebra. Then an $L^0(\mu)$ -normed \mathscr{A} -module \mathscr{M} is called an $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach \mathscr{A} -module if $d_{\mathscr{M}}$ is complete.

Notice that the $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach \mathscr{A} -modules with $\mathscr{A} = L^0(\mu)$ are exactly the $L^0(\mu)$ normed $L^0(\mu)$ -modules in the sense of [26, Definition 2.6] (indeed, in [26] $L^0(\mu)$ normed $L^0(\mu)$ -modules are assumed to be complete). Moreover, the $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module in Gigli's axiomatization is precisely an RN module in the sense of Guo and the topology induced by the metric $d_{\mathscr{M}}$ is precisely the (ϵ, λ) -topology of RN module (see [34]).

Definition 2.14 (Generators) Let (X, Σ, μ) be a measure space and \mathscr{M} an $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module. Then a vector space $V \subseteq \mathscr{M}$ generates \mathscr{M} if $\mathcal{G}(V)$ is dense in \mathscr{M} , where we set

$$\mathcal{G}(V) := \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{E_n}^{\mu} \cdot v_n \ \middle| \ (E_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Sigma \text{ partition of } \mathbf{X}, \ (v_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq V \right\}.$$
(2.3)

Moreover, we say that \mathcal{M} is *countably generated* if it is generated by a separable subspace.

Example 2.15 Let ($\{0\}, \delta_0$) be the one-point probability space. Then we have that

 $\{L^{0}(\delta_{o})$ -Banach $L^{0}(\delta_{o})$ -modules $\} = \{Banach spaces\},\$

in the sense which we are going to explain. First, observe that $L^0(\delta_0) = \mathbb{R}_{\delta_0}$ can be canonically identified with \mathbb{R} . Given an $L^0(\delta_0)$ -Banach $L^0(\delta_0)$ -module \mathscr{M} , we thus have that the pointwise norm $\|\cdot\| := |\cdot| : \mathscr{M} \to L^0(\delta_0) \cong \mathbb{R}$ can be regarded as a norm. The resulting normed space \mathscr{M} is in fact Banach, as follows from the completeness of the distance $\mathsf{d}_{\mathscr{M}}(v, w) = \|v - w\| \wedge 1$.

We recall that, given two $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -modules \mathscr{M} and \mathscr{N} , an isomorphism of $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -modules is a map $\Phi : \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{N}$ that is $L^0(\mu)$ -linear, surjective and preserves the pointwise norm, i.e. $|\Phi(v)| = |v|$ as elements of $L^0(\mu)$ for every $v \in \mathscr{M}$.

Proposition 2.16 (Completion of an L^0 -normed \mathscr{A} -module) Let (X, Σ, μ) be a measure space and \mathscr{A} a subalgebra of $L^0(\mu)$ such that $\hat{\mathscr{A}} = L^0(\mu)$. Let \mathscr{M} be an $L^0(\mu)$ -normed \mathscr{A} -module. Then there exists a unique couple $(\hat{\mathscr{M}}, \iota)$ having the following properties:

- i) $\hat{\mathcal{M}}$ is an $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module,
- ii) $\iota: \mathcal{M} \to \hat{\mathcal{M}}$ is a linear map with generating image such that $|\iota(v)| = |v|$ for every $v \in \mathcal{M}$.

The couple $(\hat{\mathcal{M}}, \iota)$ is unique up to a unique isomorphism: given any couple $(\mathcal{N}, \tilde{\iota})$ with the same properties, there is a unique isomorphism $\Phi: \hat{\mathcal{M}} \to \mathcal{N}$ of $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -modules such that



is a commutative diagram. We say that $\hat{\mathcal{M}}$ is the completion of \mathcal{M} .

Proof Recall Remark 2.10. The triple $(L^0(\mu), L^0(\mu), L^0(\mu))$ is a metric *f*-structure in the sense of [42, Definition 2.24]; cf. with [42, Section 4.2.2]. Defining $\mathcal{V} := \mathcal{M}$ and the map $\psi : \mathcal{V} \to L^0(\mu)^+$ as $\psi(v) := |v|$, we obtain the statement by applying [42, Theorem 3.19] to (\mathcal{V}, ψ) .

Remark 2.17 We point out that, although we consider $L^0(\mu)$ -normed \mathscr{A} -modules, where $\mathscr{A} \subseteq L^0(\mu)$ is a subalgebra that does not have a unital element (for example Test(X) in Theorem 4.4), this does not happen in the completion. Indeed, if (X, d, μ) is an RCD(*K*, *N*) space, we have that Test(X) = $L^0(\mu)$ (see Lemma 2.26 later and the fact that $\mu \ll$ Cap). Thus, Proposition 2.16 gives that the completion has a module structure over the algebra $L^0(\mu)$, which has the unital element.

2.2.1 L^0 -Banach L^0 -modules with respect to a submodular outer measure

Let (X, d) be a metric space. We denote by $\mathscr{B}(X)$ the Borel σ -algebra of X. Fix an outer measure ν on X. Given a Borel function $f: X \to [0, +\infty]$ and a set $E \in \mathscr{B}(X)$,

one can define the integral of f on E with respect to ν via Cavalieri's formula, i.e.

$$\int_{E} f \, \mathrm{d}\nu := \int_{0}^{+\infty} \nu(\{\mathbb{1}_{E} f \ge t\}) \, \mathrm{d}t.$$
 (2.4)

Moreover, we say that:

- v is *boundedly-finite* if $v(B) < +\infty$ for every $B \in \mathscr{B}(X)$ bounded.
- ν is submodular if $\nu(E \cup F) + \nu(E \cap F) \le \nu(E) + \nu(F)$ for every $E, F \in \mathscr{B}(X)$.

It holds that the integral defined in (2.4) is subadditive, which means that

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} (f+g) \, \mathrm{d}\nu \le \int_{\mathcal{X}} f \, \mathrm{d}\nu + \int_{\mathcal{X}} g \, \mathrm{d}\nu \quad \text{for every } f, g \colon \mathcal{X} \to [0, +\infty] \text{ Borel},$$

if and only if v is submodular. See [21] after [22].

Example 2.18 We are concerned with two types of boundedly-finite, submodular outer measures:

i) The outer measure $\bar{\mu}$ induced via the Carathéodory construction, i.e.

$$\bar{\mu}(S) := \inf \{ \mu(E) \mid E \in \mathscr{B}(X), S \subseteq E \} \text{ for every } S \subseteq X,$$

by a boundedly-finite Borel measure $\mu \ge 0$ on a metric space (X, d).

ii) The Sobolev capacity Cap on a metric measure space (X, d, m).

We will introduce the Sobolev capacity in Sect. 2.3.1.

Fix a metric space (X, d) and a boundedly-finite, submodular outer measure ν on X. Then we denote by $L^0(\nu)$ the space of all Borel functions from X to \mathbb{R} , quotiented up to ν -a.e. equality. In order to define a distance on $L^0(\nu)$, fix an increasing sequence $(U_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of bounded open subsets of X with the following property: for any bounded set $B \subseteq X$, there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $B \subseteq U_n$. In particular, we have that $X = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} U_n$. Then we define

$$\mathsf{d}_{L^0(\nu)}(f,g) := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{2^n (\nu(U_n) \vee 1)} \int_{U_n} |f - g| \wedge 1 \, \mathrm{d}\nu \quad \text{for every } f, g \in L^0(\nu).$$

The submodularity of the integration with respect to ν ensures that $d_{L^0(\nu)}$ is a distance. Even though the distance $d_{L^0(\nu)}$ depends on the chosen sequence $(U_n)_n$, its induced topology does not and makes $L^0(\nu)$ into a topological vector space (see [21, Prop. 2.11]). Given a Borel measure μ on X such that $\mu \ll \nu$, we denote by $\pi_{\mu}: L^0(\nu) \rightarrow L^0(\mu)$ the canonical projection map and by $[f]_{\mu} \in L^0(\mu)$ the equivalence class of a function $f \in L^0(\nu)$. Moreover, in the framework of Example 2.18 i), we have that $L^0(\bar{\mu}) = L^0(\mu)$ as topological vector spaces.

The following definition is adapted from [21, Definition 3.1]:

Definition 2.19 Let (X, d) be a metric space and ν a boundedly-finite, submodular outer measure on X. Let \mathscr{M} be a module over $L^0(\nu)$. Then $|\cdot|: \mathscr{M} \to L^0(\nu)$ is a *pointwise norm* if

$$|v| \ge 0$$
 for every $v \in \mathcal{M}$, with equality if and only if $v = 0$.
 $|v + w| \le |v| + |w|$ for every $v, w \in \mathcal{M}$,
 $|f \cdot v| = |f||v|$ for every $f \in L^0(v)$ and $v \in \mathcal{M}$,

where all equalities and inequalities are intended in the ν -a.e. sense. Whenever \mathcal{M} is endowed with a pointwise norm $|\cdot|$, we say that \mathcal{M} is an $L^0(\nu)$ -normed $L^0(\nu)$ -module. When the distance

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathscr{M}}(v, w) := \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}(v)}(|v - w|, 0) \text{ for every } v, w \in \mathscr{M}$$

is a complete distance on \mathcal{M} , we say that \mathcal{M} is an $L^0(v)$ -Banach $L^0(v)$ -module.

In view of Example 2.18 i), the above notion of a $L^0(\nu)$ -normed/Banach $L^0(\nu)$ module generalises Definitions 2.12 and 2.13 with $\mathscr{A} = L^0(\mu)$. Generalising Definition 2.14, we say that a vector subspace $V \subseteq \mathscr{M}$ generates \mathscr{M} if $\mathcal{G}(V)$ is dense in \mathscr{M} , where $\mathcal{G}(V)$ is defined as in (2.3) (with ν in place of μ).

In the case where $\mu \ll \nu$ and \mathscr{M} is a given $L^0(\nu)$ -Banach $L^0(\nu)$ -module, we can 'quotient \mathscr{M} up to μ -a.e. equality', i.e. there is a natural $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module structure on the quotient

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mu} := \mathcal{M} / \sim_{\mu}, \quad \text{where } v \sim_{\mu} w \text{ if and only if } |v - w| = 0 \text{ holds } \mu\text{-a.e. on X.}$$

$$(2.5)$$

In analogy with (and, in fact, generalising) the notation for the spaces of functions, we denote by $\pi_{\mu} \colon \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mu}$ the canonical projection map and by $[v]_{\mu} \in \mathcal{M}_{\mu}$ the equivalence class of $v \in \mathcal{M}$.

2.3 Calculus on metric measure spaces

By a *metric measure space* (X, d, m) we mean a complete, separable metric space (X, d) equipped with a boundedly finite Borel measure $m \ge 0$. We denote by LIP(X) (resp. LIP_{loc}(X), resp. LIP_{bs}(X)) the space of all Lipschitz (resp. locally Lipschitz, resp. boundedly-supported Lipschitz) functions from X to \mathbb{R} . The *asymptotic slope* $\lim_{a \in I} (f) \colon X \to [0, +\infty)$ of $f \in LIP_{loc}(X)$ is defined as

$$\operatorname{lip}_{a}(f)(x) := \lim_{y, z \to x} \frac{|f(y) - f(z)|}{\mathsf{d}(y, z)} \quad \text{for every accumulation point } x \in \mathbf{X}$$

The *local Lipschitz constant* $lip(f): X \to [0, +\infty)$ of $f \in LIP_{loc}(X)$ is defined as

$$\operatorname{lip}(f)(x) := \overline{\operatorname{lim}}_{y \to x} \frac{|f(y) - f(x)|}{\mathsf{d}(y, x)} \quad \text{for every accumulation point } x \in \mathbf{X}.$$

In both cases, we use the convention that $\lim_{a} (f)(x) := 0$ and $\lim_{a} (f)(x) := 0$ for every isolated point $x \in X$. The *Cheeger energy* of (X, d, m), which was introduced in [4] after [20], is the functional Ch: $L^2(m) \rightarrow [0, \infty]$ given by

$$\operatorname{Ch}(f) := \frac{1}{2} \inf \left\{ \lim_{n \to \infty} \int \operatorname{lip}_a^2(f_n) \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \, \middle| \, (f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \operatorname{LIP}_{bs}(\mathbf{X}), \, \pi_\mathfrak{m}(f_n) \to f \text{ in } L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \right\}$$

for every $f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$. The Sobolev space $H^{1,2}(X)$ is then defined as

$$H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}) := \left\{ f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \mid \mathrm{Ch}(f) < +\infty \right\}.$$

Given any $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$, there exists a unique non-negative function $|Df| \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$, which is called the *minimal relaxed slope* of f, providing the integral representation

$$\operatorname{Ch}(f) = \frac{1}{2} \int |Df|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}.$$

It holds that $\pi_{\mathfrak{m}}(\operatorname{LIP}_{bs}(X)) \subseteq H^{1,2}(X)$ and $|Df| \leq \operatorname{lip}_{a}(f)$ in the m-a.e. sense for all $f \in \operatorname{LIP}_{bs}(X)$. The Sobolev space is a Banach space if endowed with the norm

$$\|f\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X})} := \left(\|f\|_{L^{2}(\mathfrak{m})}^{2} + \||Df|\|_{L^{2}(\mathfrak{m})}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \text{ for every } f \in H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}).$$

However, $(H^{1,2}(X), \|\cdot\|_{H^{1,2}(X)})$ needs not be a Hilbert space. Following [25], we say that

(X, d, m) is *infinitesimally Hilbertian* if $H^{1,2}(X)$ is a Hilbert space.

In the infinitesimally Hilbertian setting, the carré du champ operator

$$H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}) \times H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}) \ni (f,g) \mapsto \langle \nabla f, \nabla g \rangle$$
$$:= \frac{|D(f+g)|^2 - |Df|^2 - |Dg|^2}{2} \in L^1(\mathfrak{m})$$

is a bilinear operator. We say that a function $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$ has a *Laplacian* if there exists a (necessarily unique) function $\Delta f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ such that

$$\int \langle \nabla f, \nabla g \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} = -\int g \, \Delta f \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \quad \text{for every } g \in H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}).$$

We denote by $D(\Delta)$ the space of all those functions $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$ having a Laplacian. The following definition is essentially taken from [26, 27]:

The following demittion is essentially taken from [20, 27].

Definition 2.20 (Tangent module) Let (X, d, m) be an infinitesimally Hilbertian metric measure space. Then there exists a unique (up to a unique isomorphism) couple $(L^0(TX), \nabla)$, where:

i) $L^0(TX)$ is an $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -Banach $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -module.

ii) $\nabla : H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}) \to L^0(T\mathbf{X})$ is a linear operator such that

$$|\nabla f| = |Df| \text{ for every } f \in H^{1,2}(X),$$

$$\{\nabla f : f \in H^{1,2}(X)\} \text{ generates } L^0(TX).$$

The space $L^0(TX)$ is called the *tangent module* of (X, d, m) and ∇ the *gradient operator*.

Thanks to the locality properties of the minimal relaxed slopes, the gradient operator can be extended to all Lipschitz functions on X.

2.3.1 Functions of bounded variation on PI spaces

We recall the notion of function of bounded variation on a metric measure space. The following definition was introduced in [3] after [43].

Definition 2.21 (BV space) Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space and $f \in L^1_{loc}(X)$. Given any open set $U \subseteq X$, we define the *total variation* of f on U as

$$|Df|(U) := \inf \left\{ \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{U} \operatorname{lip}_{a}(f_{n}) \operatorname{dm} \middle| (f_{n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \operatorname{LIP}_{loc}(U) \cap L^{1}(U), \\ f_{n} \to f \text{ in } L^{1}_{loc}(U) \right\}.$$

$$(2.6)$$

Then we say that f is of bounded variation if $|Df|(X) < +\infty$. We define the space BV(X) as

$$BV(\mathbf{X}) := \left\{ f \in L^1(\mathfrak{m}) \mid |Df|(\mathbf{X}) < +\infty \right\}.$$

Moreover, we say that $E \subseteq X$ Borel is a set of finite perimeter if $P(E) := |D\mathbb{1}_E|(X) < +\infty$.

Given any function $f \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ of bounded variation, there exists a unique finite Borel measure on X, still denoted by |Df|, which extends the set-function on open sets we defined in (2.6). In the case where $f = \mathbb{1}_E$ for some set of finite perimeter $E \subseteq X$, we write $P(E, \cdot) := |D\mathbb{1}_E|$ and we call $P(E, \cdot)$ the *perimeter measure* of *E*. The following result is taken from [43]:

Theorem 2.22 (Coarea formula) Let (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) be a metric measure space and let $f \in BV(X)$. Then $t \mapsto P(\{f > t\}, \cdot)$ is a measurable measure-valued map from \mathbb{R} to X. Moreover, it holds that

$$|Df| = \int_{\mathbb{R}} P(\{f > t\}, \cdot) dt.$$

Following [21, Definition 2.6] (which is a variant of [38, formula (7.2.1)]), we define the *Sobolev capacity* on the space (X, d, m) as

$$\operatorname{Cap}(E) := \inf_{f} \|f\|_{H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X})}^2 \quad \text{for every set } E \subseteq \mathbf{X},$$

where the infimum is taken over all functions $f \in H^{1,2}(X)$ satisfying $f \ge 1$ m-a.e. on some open neighbourhood of E. The Sobolev capacity Cap is a boundedly-finite, submodular outer measure on X such that $\mathfrak{m} \ll$ Cap. Moreover, it was proved in [12] after [14] that

$$|Df| \ll \text{Cap}$$
 for every $f \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ of bounded variation, (2.7)

thus in particular $P(E, \cdot) \ll$ Cap for every set of finite perimeter $E \subseteq X$.

Even though the basic theory of BV functions is meaningful on arbitrary metric measure spaces, a much more refined analysis is available in the setting of PI spaces, which we are going to introduce. We refer e.g. to [10, 38] for a thorough account of this topic.

Definition 2.23 (PI space) Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space. Then:

 (i) We say that (X, d, m) is uniformly locally doubling if there exists a nondecreasing function C_D: (0, +∞) → (0, +∞) such that

$$\mathfrak{m}(B_{2r}(x)) \leq C_D(R)\mathfrak{m}(B_r(x))$$
 for every $0 < r < R$ and $x \in X$.

(ii) We say that (X, d, m) supports a *weak local* (1, 1)-*Poincaré inequality* if there exist a constant $\lambda \ge 1$ and a non-decreasing function $C_P: (0, +\infty) \to (0, +\infty)$ such that for any function $f \in LIP(X)$ it holds that

$$\int_{B_r(x)} \left| f - \int_{B_r(x)} f \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \right| \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \le C_P(R) \, r \, \int_{B_{\lambda r}(x)} \mathrm{lip}_a(f) \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}$$

for every 0 < r < R and $x \in X$.

(iii) We say that (X, d, m) is a *PI space* if it is uniformly locally doubling and it supports a weak local (1, 1)-Poincaré inequality.

Let (X, d, m) be a PI space. The *upper density* of a Borel set $E \subseteq X$ at a point $x \in X$ is

$$\Theta^*(E, x) := \overline{\lim_{r \searrow 0}} \frac{\mathfrak{m}(E \cap B_r(x))}{\mathfrak{m}(B_r(x))} \in [0, 1].$$

The essential boundary of E is defined as the Borel set

$$\partial^* E := \left\{ x \in \mathbf{X} \mid \Theta^*(E, x), \Theta^*(\mathbf{X} \setminus E, x) > 0 \right\}.$$

Following [1], we define the *codimension-one Hausdorff measure* of a set $E \subseteq X$ as

$$\mathcal{H}(E) := \lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \mathcal{H}_{\delta}(E),$$

where for any $\delta > 0$ we define

$$\mathcal{H}_{\delta}(E) := \inf \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_{r_n}(x_n))}{2r_n} \mid (x_n)_n \subseteq \mathcal{X}, \ (r_n)_n \subseteq (0, \delta), \ E \subseteq \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} B_{r_n}(x_n) \right\}.$$

Both \mathcal{H}_{δ} and \mathcal{H} are Borel regular outer measures on X. If $E \subseteq X$ is a set of finite perimeter, then it was proved in [1] (and [6]) that the perimeter measure of E can be written as

$$P(E, \cdot) = \theta_E \mathcal{H}|_{\partial^* E},$$

for some Borel density function $\theta_E \colon X \to [\gamma, C]$, where the constants $C \ge \gamma > 0$ depend exclusively on $C_D(\cdot)$, $C_P(\cdot)$, and λ . In particular, the perimeter measure $P(E, \cdot)$ is concentrated on $\partial^* E$.

Definition 2.24 (Precise representative) Let (X, d, m) be a PI space. Let $f \in BV(X)$ be a given function. Then the *approximate lower limit* $f^{\wedge} \colon X \to [-\infty, +\infty]$ and the *approximate upper limit* $f^{\vee} \colon X \to [-\infty, +\infty]$ of f are defined as

$$f^{\wedge}(x) := \sup \{ t \in \mathbb{R} \mid \Theta^*(\{ f < t \}, x) = 0 \},\$$

$$f^{\vee}(x) := \inf \{ t \in \mathbb{R} \mid \Theta^*(\{ f > t \}, x) = 0 \}$$

for every $x \in X$, respectively. We also define the Borel set $X_f \subseteq X$ as

$$\mathbf{X}_f := \{ f^{\wedge} > -\infty \} \cap \{ f^{\vee} < +\infty \}.$$

Finally, the *precise representative* $\bar{f}: X_f \to \mathbb{R}$ of f is the Borel function given by

$$\bar{f}(x) := \frac{f^{\wedge}(x) + f^{\vee}(x)}{2}$$
 for every $x \in X_f$.

Remark 2.25 Since $\{f > t\} \subseteq \{f \ge t\} \subseteq \{f > s\}$ for every $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$ with s < t, one has that

$$f^{\wedge}(x) = \sup \left\{ t \in \mathbb{R} \mid \Theta^*(\{f \le t\}, x) = 0 \right\},\$$

$$f^{\vee}(x) = \inf \left\{ t \in \mathbb{R} \mid \Theta^*(\{f \ge t\}, x) = 0 \right\}$$

for every $x \in X$.

Deringer

It holds that $\mathfrak{m}(X \setminus X_f) = |Df|(X \setminus X_f) = 0$, so that $|Df||_{X_f} = |Df|$, and that \overline{f} is an m-a.e. representative of f. The *jump set* $J_f \subseteq X_f$ of f is defined as

$$J_f := \left\{ x \in \mathbf{X} \mid f^{\wedge}(x) < f^{\vee}(x) \right\}.$$

It holds that J_f is contained in a countable union of essential boundaries of sets of finite perimeter, thus in particular $\mathfrak{m}(J_f) = 0$. More precisely, for suitably chosen $(t_n)_n, (s_n)_n \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ with $t_n \neq s_n$,

$$J_f = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \partial^* \{ \bar{f} > t_n \} \cap \partial^* \{ \bar{f} > s_n \}.$$

Furthermore, there exists a Borel function $\theta_f \colon X \to [\gamma, C]$ such that

$$|Df||_{J_f} = (f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge})\theta_f \mathcal{H}|_{J_f}.$$

The following definition has been proposed in [5, Definition 6.1]. We say that the metric measure space (X, d, m) is *isotropic* provided that, given two sets of finite perimeter *E* and *F*, it holds that

$$\theta_E = \theta_F \quad \mathcal{H} ext{-a.e. in } \partial^* E \cap \partial^* F.$$
 (2.8)

In the case where (X, d, m) is isotropic, we have that for any set $G \subseteq X$ of finite perimeter it holds

$$|Df||_{J_f \cap \partial^* G} = (f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge}) P(G, \cdot)|_{J_f}.$$
(2.9)

We refer to [8, 39] for the proofs of the above claims.

2.4 Calculus on RCD spaces

We assume the reader is familiar with the language of RCD(K, N) spaces. Let us only recall that an RCD(K, N) space (X, d, m), with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$, is an infinitesimally Hilbertian metric measure space whose synthetic Ricci curvature (resp. synthetic dimension) is bounded from below by K (resp. from above by N), in the sense of Lott–Sturm–Villani [41, 48]. Each RCD(K, N) space is a PI space (see [48] for the doubling condition and [44] for the Poincaré inequality). Moreover, RCD(K, N) spaces are isotropic. This has been observed in [11, Example 1.29]. For more of this topic, see the survey [2] and the references therein.

Following [27] (after [45]), we consider the distinguished algebra of *test functions* on X:

$$\operatorname{Test}(\mathbf{X}) := \left\{ f \in \operatorname{LIP}(\mathbf{X}) \cap D(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m}) \mid |Df| \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m}), \ \Delta f \in H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}) \right\}.$$

The space Test(X) is dense in $H^{1,2}(X)$. Moreover, the following property holds:

Lemma 2.26 Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space. Then Test(X) generates $L^0(Cap)$.

Proof In fact, we will prove the following claim, which is a stronger statement, namely that if $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is a Borel function and $\varepsilon > 0$ is given, then there exists a Borel partition $(E_n)_n$ of X and $(f_n)_n \subseteq \text{Test}(X)$ such that

$$|f(x) - f_n(x)| \le \varepsilon$$
 for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in E_n$. (2.10)

Indeed, from this claim the statement follows in the following way. Given $F \in L^0(\text{Cap})$, let f be Borel such that $[f]_{\text{Cap}} = F$. We fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and apply the claim having E_n , f_n as above. We define $g := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \chi_{E_n} f_n$ and we have $|G - F| \le \varepsilon$ Cap-a.e. where $G = [g]_{\text{Cap}}$. This gives $d_{L^0(\text{Cap})}(|G - F|, 0) \le \varepsilon$, proving the statement. Let us now prove the claim. First, we can find a Borel partition $(E_n)_n$ of X into bounded sets and a sequence $(\lambda_n)_n \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ such that $|f - \lambda_n| \le \varepsilon$ on E_n . Using the results of [7], for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we can find a test cut-off function $f_n \in \text{Test}(X)$ satisfying $f_n = \lambda_n$ on an open ball containing E_n . Property (2.10) follows.

Given any $f, g \in \text{Test}(X)$, we have that

$$\langle \nabla f, \nabla g \rangle \in H^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}).$$

In particular, we deduce that for any $f \in \text{Test}(X)$ the function |Df| admits a *quasi-continuous representative* QCR(|Df|) $\in L^0(\text{Cap})$, cf. with [21]. Therefore, the following result, which is taken from [21, Theorem 3.6], is meaningful:

Theorem 2.27 (Capacitary tangent module) Let (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) be an RCD(K, N) space. Then there exists a unique (up to a unique isomorphism) couple $(L^0_{Cap}(TX), \overline{\nabla})$, where:

- i) $L^0_{Cap}(TX)$ is an $L^0(Cap)$ -Banach $L^0(Cap)$ -module.
- ii) $\overline{\nabla}$: Test(X) $\rightarrow L^0_{Cap}(TX)$ is a linear operator such that

$$|\bar{\nabla}f| = \text{QCR}(|Df|) \text{ for every } f \in \text{Test}(X),$$

 $\{\bar{\nabla}f : f \in \text{Test}(X)\} \text{ generates } L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX).$

The space $L^0_{Cap}(TX)$ *is called the capacitary tangent module of* (X, d, m)*.*

The space $\text{Test}(TX) \subseteq L^0_{\text{Cap}}(TX)$ of *test vector fields* is then defined as

$$\operatorname{Test}(T\mathbf{X}) := \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i \bar{\nabla} f_i \; \middle| \; n \in \mathbb{N}, \; (f_i)_{i=1}^{n}, \; (g_i)_{i=1}^{n} \subseteq \operatorname{Test}(\mathbf{X}) \right\}.$$

The space Test(*TX*) generates $L^0_{Cap}(TX)$. Given a Borel measure μ on X with $\mu \ll$ Cap, we set

$$L^0_{\mu}(T\mathbf{X}) := L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(T\mathbf{X})_{\mu},$$

where the right-hand side is defined as in (2.5). One can readily check that

$$L^0_{\mathfrak{m}}(T\mathbf{X}) \cong L^0(T\mathbf{X}), \text{ with } \pi_{\mathfrak{m}} \circ \nabla = \nabla|_{\text{Test}(\mathbf{X})}.$$

Thanks to (2.7), we can consider $L^0_{|Df|}(TX)$ whenever $f \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ is of bounded variation.

3 Integration of L⁰-Banach L⁰-modules

In this section, we introduce a notion of L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with a disjoint measure-valued map, which generalises the notion of strong Banach bundle studied in [29].

First, we introduce a useful shorthand notation. Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, and $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Given any collection $\mathscr{M}_{\star} = {\mathscr{M}_q}_{q \in Q}$, where \mathscr{M}_q is an $L^0(\mu_q)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu_q)$ module, and for any element v of $\mathscr{S}(\mathscr{M}_{\star})$ or of $\mathscr{S}_q(\mathscr{M}_{\star})$, we denote by

$$|v_{\star}| \in \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(L^0(\mu_{\star}))$$

the (q-a.e. equivalence class of the) map sending $q \in Q$ to $|v_q| \in L^0(\mu_q)$.

Definition 3.1 (L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle) Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, and $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Let $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ be such that:

- a) $\mathcal{M}_{\star} = \{\mathcal{M}_q\}_{q \in Q}$ and each space \mathcal{M}_q is an $L^0(\mu_q)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu_q)$ -module.
- b) Φ is a subalgebra of $L^0(q; L^0(\mu_\star))$ such that the subalgebra $\mathcal{G}_q(\Phi)$ is dense in $L^0(\mu)$, where

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi) := \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathsf{j}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathbb{1}_{S_n}^{\mathfrak{q}} f_n) \mid (S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{Q} \text{ partition of } \mathcal{Q}, \ (f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Phi \right\}$$
$$\subseteq L^0(\mu).$$

In particular, it holds that $\hat{j}_{q}(\Phi) = L^{0}(\mu)$.

c) Θ is a vector subspace of $\mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathscr{M}_{\star})$ that is also a module over $j_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi)$ and verifies

$$|v_{\star}| \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$$
 for every $v \in \Theta$.

Then we say that $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ is a L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$.

Remark 3.2 Let us clarify why the elements of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi)$ are well-posed. Fix a partition $(S_n)_n \subseteq \mathcal{Q}$ of Q and a sequence $(f_n)_n \subseteq \Phi$. Let $F_n \in L^0(\mu)$, with representative $\overline{F}_n \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ be such that $i_{\mathfrak{q}}(F_n) = f_n$. Then $i_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathbb{1}_{U_n}^{\mu}F_n) = \mathbb{1}_{S_n}^{\mathfrak{q}}f_n \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$,

where $U_n := \bigcup_{q \in S_n} E_q \in \Sigma$ and $(E_q)_{q \in Q}$ is the family from Definition 2.3. Furthermore, $(U_n)_n$ are pairwise disjoint, $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{U_n} \bar{F}_n \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$, and $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} j_q(\mathbb{1}_{S_n}^q f_n) = [\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{U_n} \bar{F}_n]_{\mu}$.

One can readily check that the mapping $|\cdot|: \Theta \to L^0(\mu)$, which we define as

$$|v| := j_{\mathfrak{g}}(|v_{\star}|) \in L^{0}(\mu)$$
 for every $v \in \Theta$,

is a pointwise norm on Θ . Therefore, the space Θ is an $L^0(\mu)$ -normed $j_q(\Phi)$ -module.

Remark 3.3 Each strong Banach bundle (in the sense of [29]) is in particular an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle, in the sense we are going to describe. Given a measure space (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) and strong Banach bundle (\mathbb{B}_{\star}, T) over (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) , we can regard (thanks to Example 2.15) each space \mathbb{B}_q as an $L^0(\delta_{(q,0)})$ -Banach $L^0(\delta_{(q,0)})$ -module, where ({0}, δ_0) is the one-point probability space. Recall also from Example 2.4 that $q \mapsto \delta_{(q,0)}$ is a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to $Q \times \{0\}$ and $\mathfrak{q} \otimes \delta_0 = \int \delta_{(q,0)} d\mathfrak{q}(q)$. Moreover, $\mathbb{R}_{\mathfrak{q}} \subseteq L^0(\mathfrak{q}) \cong L^0(\mathfrak{q} \otimes \delta_0) \cong L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\delta_{(\star,0)}))$. Therefore, up to the above identifications, $(\mathbb{B}_{\star}, T, \mathbb{R}_{\mathfrak{q}})$ is a L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \delta_{(q,0)}$.

Definition 3.4 (Integral of an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle) Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, and $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Let $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ be a L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$. Then we define $\int \mathcal{M}_q d\mathfrak{q}(q)$ as

$$\int \mathscr{M}_q \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) := \text{completion of the } L^0(\mu) \text{-normed } \mathsf{j}_{\mathsf{q}}(\Phi) \text{-module } \Theta$$

The $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module $\int \mathcal{M}_q \, d\mathfrak{q}(q)$ is referred to as the *integral* of $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$. Given an element $v \in \int \mathcal{M}_q \, d\mathfrak{q}(q)$, we will often denote it by $\int v_q \, d\mathfrak{q}(q)$. Whenever we want to make explicit the choice of the classes Θ and Φ , we write $\Gamma(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ instead of $\int \mathcal{M}_q \, d\mathfrak{q}(q)$.

Theorem 3.5 (Identification of the integral) Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, and $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Let $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ be an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$. Let us denote by $\overline{\Gamma}(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ the space of all those elements $v \in \mathscr{S}(\mathcal{M}_{\star})$ satisfying the following properties:

- i) The element $|v_{\star} w_{\star}| \in \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(L^0(\mu_{\star}))$ belongs to $L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$ for every $w \in \Theta$.
- ii) There exists a countable set $C_v \subseteq \Theta$ such that $v_q \in cl_{\mathcal{M}_q}(\{w_q : w \in C_v\})$ for q-a.e. $q \in Q$.

Then $\Theta \subseteq \pi_{\mathfrak{q}}(\overline{\Gamma}(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi))$ and $(\pi_{\mathfrak{q}}(\overline{\Gamma}(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)), |\cdot|)$ is (isomorphic to) the integral $\int \mathcal{M}_{q} d\mathfrak{q}(q)$.

Proof Set $\Gamma := \pi_{\mathfrak{q}}(\overline{\Gamma}(\mathscr{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi))$ for brevity. The inclusion $\Theta \subseteq \Gamma$ is immediate. We define

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta) := \left\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{S_n}^{\mathfrak{q}} w^n \mid (S_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{Q} \text{ partition of } Q, \ (w^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Theta \right\} \subseteq \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathscr{M}_{\star}),$$

We have that $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ is a vector subspace of $\mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathscr{M}_{\star})$, a module over $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi)$, and a dense subset of Γ .

Step 1. Let us verify that $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta) \subseteq \Gamma$. Take arbitrary $v = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{S_n}^{\mathfrak{q}} w^n \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ and $w^n \in \Theta$. Since $w^n \in \Theta$, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds that $|w_{\star}^n - w_{\star}| \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$. Hence, there exist $\overline{F}_n \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma), n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|w_q^n - w_q| = [\overline{F}_n]_{\mu_q}$ q-a.e. on Q. Further, q-a.e. on Q it holds that

$$|v_{q} - w_{q}| = \left| \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{S_{n}}(q) w_{q}^{n} - w_{q} \right| = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{S_{n}}(q) |w_{q}^{n} - w_{q}|$$

$$=_{q \in S_{nq}} |w_{q}^{nq} - w_{q}| = \left[\mathbb{1}_{E_{q}} \bar{F}_{n_{q}} \right]_{\mu_{q}} = \left[\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{\substack{Q \in S_{n}}} E_{q} \bar{F}_{n} \right]_{\mu_{q}}.$$

(3.1)

Thanks to the disjointness of measure-valued map $q \mapsto \mu_q$, we have $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{\bigcup_{q \in S_n} E_q}$ $\overline{F}_n \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$, whence we deduce that $|v_{\star} - w_{\star}| \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$, and thus i) is satisfied. To prove that ii) holds, it is enough to define $\mathcal{C}_v = \{w^n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$. This concludes the proof that $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta) \subseteq \Gamma$. Similarly, one can also readily check that $|v_{\star} - z_{\star}| \in$ $L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$ for every $v \in \Gamma$ and $z \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$. Step 2. We claim that

$$\forall v \in \Gamma \ \exists (z^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta) : \ \mathsf{j}_{\mathfrak{q}}(|v_\star - z^k_\star|) \to 0 \text{ in } L^0(\mu).$$
(3.2)

In order to prove it, notice that for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we can find a partition $(S_n^k)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{Q}$ of Q and a sequence $(w^{k,n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq C_v$ such that $z^k := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{S_n^k}^q w^{k,n} \in \mathcal{G}_q(\Theta)$ satisfies $\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{M}_q}(v_q, z_q^k) \leq \frac{1}{k}$ for q-a.e. $q \in Q$. Let us explain this in more details. Fix arbitrary $v \in \Gamma$ with $C_v = \{w^n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\} \subseteq \Theta$. For every $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$ we define

$$\tilde{S}_n^k := \left\{ q \in Q \, | \, \mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{M}_q}(v_q, w_q^n) \leq \frac{1}{k} \right\}.$$

Thanks to Remark 2.9, we can assume that q and (almost) all μ_q 's are finite. Therefore, we can deduce that for q-a.e. $q \in Q$ it holds that

$$\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{M}_{q}}(v_{q}, w_{q}^{n}) = \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}(\mu_{q})}(|v_{q} - w_{q}^{n}|, 0) = \int_{X} \min\{G^{n}, 1\} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{q},$$

Deringer

where $G^n \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$ are such that $|v_q - w_q^n| = [G^n]_{\mu_q}$ for q-a.e. $q \in Q$. Since $G^n \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$, it follows that the map $\gamma_n : Q \ni q \mapsto \int_X \min\{G^n, 1\} d\mu_q \in [0, +\infty]$ is measurable. Moreover, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have that there exists $S_Q^n \in Q$, such that $\mathfrak{q}(S_Q^n) = 0$ and $\gamma^n = \mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{M}_q}(v_{\cdot}, w_{\cdot}^n)$ on $Q \setminus S_Q^n$. Now we conclude that

$$\tilde{S}_{n}^{k} = \underbrace{\left(\tilde{S}_{n}^{k} \cap (Q \setminus S_{Q}^{n})\right)}_{:=\tilde{\tilde{S}}_{n}^{k} = (\gamma^{n})^{-1}([0,1/k]) \in \mathcal{Q}} \cup \underbrace{(\tilde{S}_{n}^{k} \cap S_{Q}^{n})}_{q\text{-negligible}}, \text{ for every } n, k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Let $Q_v \in \mathcal{Q}$ be such that $\mathfrak{q}(Q_v) = 0$ and for every $q \in Q \setminus Q_v$ it holds that $v_q \in \mathfrak{cl}(\{w_q^n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\})$. Hence, for every $q \in Q \setminus Q_v$ and every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\mathsf{d}_{\mathcal{M}_q}(v_q, w_q^n) \leq 1/k$. We deduce that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds

$$\mathcal{Q} \setminus \underbrace{\left(\mathcal{Q}_v \cup \left(\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} S_Q^n\right)\right)}_{\text{g-negligible}} = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left(\tilde{\tilde{S}}_n^k \setminus Q_v\right).$$

Further, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ set $S_1^k := \tilde{S}_1^k \setminus Q_v$, $S_n^k := \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^n (\tilde{S}_i^k \setminus Q_v)\right) \setminus S_{n-1}^k$, $n \ge 2$. In other words, a collection $\{S_n^k\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a partition of Q up to q-negligible set, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Define $z^k := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{S_n^k}^q w^n$. Obviously $z^k \in \mathcal{G}_q(\Theta)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ it holds that $d_{\mathcal{M}_q}(v_q, z_q^k) \le \frac{1}{k}$ for q-a.e. $q \in Q$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathsf{d}_{L^{0}(\mu)}\big(\mathsf{j}_{\mathfrak{q}}(|v_{\star}-z_{\star}^{k}|),0\big) &= \iint |v_{q}-z_{q}^{k}| \wedge 1 \, \mathsf{d}\mu_{q} \, \mathsf{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) \\ &= \int \mathsf{d}_{\mathscr{M}_{q}}(v_{q},z_{q}^{k}) \, \mathsf{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) \leq \frac{\mathfrak{q}(Q)}{k}, \end{aligned}$$

whence the validity of (3.2) follows, concluding Step 2.

Having (3.2) at disposal, we can prove the following facts:

- Thanks to $||v_{\star}| |z_{\star}^{k}|| \le |v_{\star} z_{\star}^{k}|$, we obtain that $|v_{\star}| \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star}))$ for every $v \in \Gamma$.
- If $v, \tilde{v} \in \Gamma$ are given, then we can find $(z^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}, (\tilde{z}^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ such that $j_{\mathfrak{q}}(|v_{\star} z_{\star}^k|) \to 0$ and $j_{\mathfrak{q}}(|\tilde{v}_{\star} \tilde{z}_{\star}^k|) \to 0$ in $L^0(\mu)$. Since for any $w \in \Theta$ we have $z^k + \tilde{z}^k w \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| |v_{\star} + \tilde{v}_{\star} - w_{\star}| - |z_{\star}^{k} + \tilde{z}_{\star}^{k} - w_{\star}| \right| &\leq \left| (v_{\star} + \tilde{v}_{\star}) - (z_{\star}^{k} + \tilde{z}_{\star}^{k}) \right| \\ &\leq |v_{\star} - z_{\star}^{k}| + |\tilde{v}_{\star} - \tilde{z}_{\star}^{k}|, \end{aligned}$$

by letting $k \to \infty$ we deduce that $|v_{\star} + \tilde{v}_{\star} - w_{\star}| \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$ and $v + \tilde{v} \in \Gamma$.

• If $v \in \Gamma$ and $f \in L^0(\mu)$ are given, then we can find $(z^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ and $(f_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi)$ such that $j_{\mathfrak{q}}(|v_{\star} - z_{\star}^k|) \to 0$ and $f_k \to f$ in $L^0(\mu)$. Since for any given element $w \in \Theta$ we have that $f_k \cdot z^k - w \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| |(f \cdot v)_{\star} - w_{\star}| - |(f_k \cdot z^k)_{\star} - w_{\star}| \right| &\leq \left| (f \cdot v)_{\star} - (f_k \cdot z^k)_{\star} \right| \\ &\leq |f - f_k| |v_{\star}| + |f_k| |v_{\star} - z^k_{\star}|, \end{aligned}$$

by letting $k \to \infty$ we deduce that $|(f \cdot v)_{\star} - w_{\star}| \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$ and $f \cdot v \in \Gamma$.

From the previous observations, we proved that Γ is an $L^0(\mu)$ -normed $L^0(\mu)$ -module and $\mathcal{G}_q(\Theta)$ is dense in Γ . It remains to prove that Γ is complete, which we ensure in the next Lemma 3.6. Therefore, by the uniqueness statement in Proposition 2.16, which can be applied since Γ verifies both item (i) and (ii) of Proposition 2.16, we conclude that Γ is isomorphic to $\int \mathcal{M}_q \, dq(q)$ in the sense of $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module. \Box

Lemma 3.6 Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space, (X, Σ) a measurable space, and $q \mapsto \mu_q$ a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Let $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ be an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$. Let us denote $\mathscr{S} := \{v \in \mathscr{S}_q(\mathcal{M}_{\star}) : |v_{\star}| \in L^0(q; L^0(\mu_{\star}))\}$. Then \mathscr{S} is endowed with a structure of an $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module. Further, the $L^0(\mu)$ -normed $L^0(\mu)$ -module Γ from Theorem 3.5 is a closed submodule of \mathscr{S} , whence Γ is complete as well.

Proof It is straightforward to show that \mathscr{S} is an $L^0(\mu)$ -normed $L^0(\mu)$ -module, where we set $|v| := j_q(|v_\star|) \in L^0(\mu)$, for every $v \in \mathscr{S}$. To prove that it is complete we can assume without loss of generality, up to passing to a subsequence, that a Cauchy sequence $(z^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ in \mathscr{S} satisfies

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int \int \min\{|z_q^k - z_q^{k+1}|, 1\} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_q \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) < \infty.$$

Thus, we have that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int \min\{|z_q^k - z_q^{k+1}|, 1\} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_q < \infty$$

for q-a.e. q and in particular $(z_q^k)_k$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^0(\mu_q)$ for such q's. Since \mathcal{M}_q is an $L^0(\mu_q)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu_q)$ -module, we have that there exists $z_q \in \mathcal{M}_q$ such that $\int \min\{|z_q^k - z_q|, 1\} d\mu_q \to 0$ for q-a.e. q. We consider the q-a.e. defined map z, defined as $Q \ni q \mapsto z_q \in \mathcal{M}_q$.

We check that $z \in \mathscr{S}$. Since $\int \min\{|z_q^k - z_q|, 1\} d\mu_q \to 0$ for q-a.e. q, by triangle inequality, we get that $|z_q^k|$ converges to $|z_q|$ in $L^0(\mu_q)$ for q-a.e. q. Moreover, since $||z^k| - |z^{k+1}|| \le |z^k - z^{k+1}|$ holds μ -a.e., it is clear that $(|z^k|)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in $L^0(\mu)$, whence it is convergent. We call its limit $F = [\bar{F}]_{\mu} \in L^0(\mu)$, with $\bar{F} \in \mathcal{L}^0(\Sigma)$. This proves, using Lemma 2.8, that $|z_q| = [\bar{F}]_{\mu_q}$ for q-a.e. q and thus $z \in \mathscr{S}$. Moreover, by dominated convergence theorem, we get that $\int \int \min\{|z_q^k - z_q|, 1\} d\mu_q dq(q) \to 0$, so $z^k \to z$ in \mathscr{S} .

We now prove that Γ is a closed submodule of \mathscr{S} . By Theorem 3.5 it is clear that $\Gamma \subseteq \mathscr{S}$. Fix an arbitrary sequence $(v^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Gamma$ that converges to $v \in \mathscr{S}$. Let us prove that $v \in \Gamma$. Since for any given $w \in \Theta$ we have that $v^k - w \in \Gamma$ and

$$\left| |v_{\star} - w_{\star}| - |v_{\star}^k - w_{\star}| \right| \le |v_{\star} - v_{\star}^k|,$$

by letting $k \to \infty$ we deduce that $|v_{\star} - w_{\star}| \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu_{\star}))$. Thus, v satisfies i). To prove that ii) holds as well, let us denote the sequence $(v_n^k)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Theta)$ which converges to v^k , where $v_n^k = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}_{S_j^{n,k}}^{\mathfrak{q}} w_j^{n,k}$ and $(w_j^{n,k})_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \Theta$, $(S_j^{n,k})_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq Q$ for every $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$, that can be done by Theorem 3.5. Then we can set $C_v := \{w_j^{n,k} : j, n, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$, which concludes the proof of the validity of item ii) in the definition of Γ in Theorem 3.5 and the proof of the closedness of Γ .

Remark 3.7 If $\mathcal{M}_{\star} = L^{0}(\mu_{\star})$ and $\Theta = \Phi = L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star}))$, then $L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star})) \cong \int \mathcal{M}_{q} d\mathfrak{q}(q)$.

3.1 Disintegration of a module with respect to a disjoint measure-valued map

The next two theorems assert that, starting from an $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module \mathcal{M} and a disjoint measure-valued map, we can associate a L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle such that its integral is isomorphic to \mathcal{M} . We have to assume something more either on \mathcal{M} or on the disjoint measure-valued map. Indeed, in the first theorem \mathcal{M} is assumed to be countably-generated, in the second one the measures μ_q 's are all absolutely continuous with respect to a background boundedly-finite, submodular outer measure ν . Regarding the tools involved in the proof of Theorem 3.8, we refer the reader to [23], where the concepts of Banach \mathbb{B} -bundle **E** and of $\tilde{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E})$ are presented.

Theorem 3.8 (Disintegration of an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module) Let (X, Σ, μ) be a σ -finite measure space and let \mathscr{M} be a countably-generated $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ -module. Let (Q, Q, \mathfrak{q}) be a measure space and let $Q \ni q \mapsto \mu_q$ be a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X such that $\mu = \int \mu_q d\mathfrak{q}(q)$. Then there exists an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle $(\mathscr{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ consistent with $Q \ni q \mapsto \mu_q$, such that

$$\mathscr{M}\cong\int\mathscr{M}_q\,d\mathfrak{q}(q).$$

Proof Let \mathbb{B} be a universal separable Banach space. Then [23, Theorem 4.13] ensures that there exists a separable Banach \mathbb{B} -bundle \mathbf{E} , such that $\Gamma_{\mu}(\mathbf{E}) \cong \mathcal{M}$, where $\Gamma_{\mu}(\mathbf{E})$ is the quotient space of the space $\overline{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E})$ of all measurable sections of \mathbf{E} , under μ -a.e. equivalence relation. Recall that the elements of $\overline{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E})$ are everywhere defined, so that for any $q \in Q$ we can consider an $L^0(\mu_q)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu_q)$ -module $\Gamma_{\mu_q}(\mathbf{E})$. Denote the projections on quotient spaces with $\pi_{\mu} : \overline{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E}) \to \Gamma_{\mu}(\mathbf{E})$ and $\pi_q : \overline{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E}) \to \Gamma_{\mu_q}(\mathbf{E})$, for all $q \in Q$. Define $\mathcal{M}_q := \Gamma_{\mu_q}(\mathbf{E}), q \in Q$ and

$$\bar{\Theta} := \{ Q \ni q \mapsto \pi_q(\bar{v}) \in \mathscr{M}_q \, | \, \bar{v} \in \bar{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E}) \}, \quad \Theta := \pi_{\mathfrak{q}}(\bar{\Theta}).$$

Further, let $\Phi := L^0(q; L^0(\mu_*))$. Then $\mathcal{G}_q(\Phi) = L^0(\mu)$, Θ is a vector subspace of $\mathscr{S}_q(\mathcal{M}_*)$ and a module over Φ . Denote with v the q-a.e. defined equivalence class of the map $q \mapsto \pi_q(\bar{v})$, then

$$|v_{\star}| = \mathfrak{i}_{\mathfrak{q}} \left(|\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v})| \right) \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star})), \text{ for every } \bar{v} \in \bar{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E}),$$

since $|\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v})|$ and $|\pi_{q}(\bar{v})|$ are μ -a.e. and μ_{q} -a.e. equivalence classes of the map $X \ni x \mapsto \|\bar{v}(x)\|_{\mathbb{B}} \in \mathbb{R}$, respectively. Hence, $(\mathcal{M}_{\star}, \Theta, \Phi)$ is an L^{0} -Banach L^{0} -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_{q}$. Moreover, we obtained that Θ is an $L^{0}(\mu)$ -normed $L^{0}(\mu)$ -module. Further, we define

$$J(\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v})) := \int \pi_{q}(\bar{v}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q), \quad \text{for every } \bar{v} \in \bar{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E}).$$

The resulting operator $J : \Gamma_{\mu}(\mathbf{E}) \to \Theta$ is an isomorphism of $L^{0}(\mu)$ -normed $L^{0}(\mu)$ modules. Let us verify this claim. Take $\bar{v}, \tilde{v} \in \bar{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E})$, such that $\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v}) = \pi_{\mu}(\tilde{v})$, which means that $\bar{v}(x) = \tilde{v}(x) \mu$ -a.e. on X. Then, since $\mu = \int \mu_{q} dq(q)$, follows that $\bar{v}(x) = \tilde{v}(x) \mu_{q}$ -a.e. on X for q-a.e. $q \in Q$, whence $\pi_{q}(\bar{v}) = \pi_{q}(\tilde{v})$ for q-a.e. $q \in Q$ and $J(\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v})) = J(\pi_{\mu}(\tilde{v}))$, so J is well-defined. It is clear that J is $L^{0}(\mu)$ -linear and surjective. Furthermore,

$$|\mathbf{J}(\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v}))| = \mathbf{j}_{\mathfrak{q}}(|\mathbf{J}(\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v}))_{\star}|) = |\pi_{\mu}(\bar{v})|, \text{ for every } \bar{v} \in \overline{\Gamma}(\mathbf{E}),$$

whence J preserves pointwise norm and thus it is an isomorphism. Thus, we conclude that Θ is an $L^0(\mu)$ -Banach $L^0(\mu)$ module, which coincides with $\int \mathcal{M}_q \, dq(q)$. \Box

Another result in the same direction, which we will need in Sect. 4.1, is the following:

Theorem 3.9 Let (X, d) be a complete, separable metric space. Let v be a boundedlyfinite, submodular outer measure on X. Let (Q, Q, q) be a measure space. Let $q \mapsto \mu_q$ be a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X with $\mu_q \ll v$ for every $q \in Q$, and set $\mu := \int \mu_q dq(q) \ll v$. Let \mathscr{M} be an $L^0(v)$ -Banach $L^0(v)$ -module. Fix a generating subalgebra \mathscr{A} of $L^0(v)$, and a vector subspace \mathscr{V} of \mathscr{M} that is also an \mathscr{A} -module and generates \mathscr{M} . Let us define $\mathscr{M}_{\mu_*} := {\mathscr{M}_{\mu_q}}_{q \in Q}$,

$$\Theta := \left\{ [v]_{\mu_{\star}} \in \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathscr{M}_{\mu_{\star}}) \mid v \in \mathscr{V} \right\}, \Phi := \left\{ [f]_{\mu_{\star}} \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star})) \mid f \in \mathscr{A} \right\}$$

Then $(\mathcal{M}_{\mu_{\star}}, \Theta, \Phi)$ is an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$. Moreover, it holds that

$$\mathscr{M}_{\mu} \cong \int \mathscr{M}_{\mu_q} \, d\mathfrak{q}(q),$$

the canonical isomorphism I: $\mathcal{M}_{\mu} \to \int \mathcal{M}_{\mu_q} d\mathfrak{q}(q)$ being the unique homomorphism satisfying

$$I([v]_{\mu}) = \int [v]_{\mu_q} \, d\mathfrak{q}(q) \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathscr{V}.$$

Proof Since $\pi_{\mu}(\mathscr{A})$ is a generating subalgebra of $L^{0}(\mu)$ and $\pi_{\mu}(\mathscr{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi)$, we deduce that $\mathcal{G}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\Phi)$ is dense in $L^{0}(\mu)$. Moreover, Θ is a vector subspace of $\mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(\mathscr{M}_{\mu_{\star}})$, is a module over Φ , and

$$|[v]_{\mu_{\star}}| = \mathsf{i}_{\mathfrak{q}}(|[v]_{\mu}|) \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mu_{\star})) \quad \text{for every } [v]_{\mu_{\star}} \in \Theta.$$
(3.3)

Therefore, $(\mathscr{M}_{\mu_{\star}}, \Theta, \Phi)$ is an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu_q$. Moreover, we define

$$\tilde{\mathbf{I}}([v]_{\mu}) := \int [v]_{\mu_q} \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) = [v]_{\mu_{\star}} \in \Theta \subseteq \int \mathscr{M}_{\mu_q} \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q) \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathscr{V}.$$

The resulting operator $\tilde{I}: \pi_{\mu}(\mathcal{V}) \to \Theta$ is well-defined, $\pi_{\mu}(\mathscr{A})$ -linear, and satisfying

$$|\tilde{\mathbf{I}}([v]_{\mu})| = \mathbf{j}_{\mathfrak{q}}([v]_{\mu_{\star}}]) \stackrel{(3.3)}{=} |[v]_{\mu}| \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathscr{V}.$$

Since $\pi_{\mu}(\mathscr{A})$ generates $L^{0}(\mu)$, there exists a unique homomorphism I: $\mathscr{M}_{\mu} \rightarrow \int \mathscr{M}_{\mu_{q}} d\mathfrak{q}(q)$ that extends \tilde{I} and preserves the pointwise norm. Given that $\Theta = \tilde{I}(\pi_{\mu}(\mathscr{V})) \subseteq I(\mathscr{M}_{\mu})$ generates $\int \mathscr{M}_{\mu_{q}} d\mathfrak{q}(q)$, we can finally conclude that I is an isomorphism, thus the statement is proved.

4 Applications to vector calculus on RCD spaces

This section deals with applications of the language developed so far to the coarea formula for BV functions and to the 1D-localisation, in both cases in the setting of RCD spaces.

4.1 Vector fields on the superlevel sets of a BV function

First, a preliminary lemma:

Lemma 4.1 Let (X, d, m) be a PI space and $f \in BV(X)$. Then, denoting by \overline{f} the precise representative of f (see Definition 2.24) it holds that

$$\partial^* \{ \bar{f} > t \} \cap (X_f \setminus J_f) \subseteq \{ \bar{f} = t \} \quad \text{for every } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

$$(4.1)$$

In particular, $t \mapsto P(\{\overline{f} > t\}, \cdot)|_{X_f \setminus J_f}$ is a disjoint measure-valued map from \mathbb{R} to X.

Proof Let $x \in \partial^*{\{\bar{f} > t\}} \cap (X_f \setminus J_f)$ be given. Since $\Theta^*({\{\bar{f} > t\}}, x) = \Theta^*({\{f > t\}}, x) = \Theta^*({\{f \le t\}}, x) = \Theta^*(\{f \le t\}, x) = \Theta^*(X \setminus \{f > t\}, x) > 0$, we deduce that $t \ge f^{\wedge}(x)$. Since $x \in X_f \setminus J_f$ ensures that $f^{\vee}(x) = f^{\wedge}(x) = \bar{f}(x)$, we can conclude that $t = \bar{f}(x)$, proving (4.1). It follows that

$$P(\{\bar{f} > t\}, \cdot)|_{X_f \setminus J_f} \text{ is concentrated on } \{\bar{f} = t\}.$$

$$(4.2)$$

Now notice that we have $\{\bar{f} = t\} \cap \{\bar{f} = s\} = \emptyset$ whenever $t, s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t \neq s$. This observation, in combination with Theorem 2.22 and (4.2), implies that $t \mapsto P(\{\bar{f} > t\}, \cdot)|_{X_f \setminus J_f}$ is a disjoint measure-valued map. Therefore, the proof is complete. \Box

Remark 4.2 In the next result, as indexing family we will consider the measure space (Q, Q, q) given as follows. We define $Q := (\mathbb{R} \times \{0\}) \cup (\mathbb{N} \times \{1\})$. We consider the inclusion maps $i_0 : \mathbb{R} \to Q$ and $i_1 : \mathbb{N} \to Q$ defined as $i_j(q) = (q, j)$ for j = 0, 1. We define the map $\pi_0 : Q \to \mathbb{R}$ as $\pi_0(q, j) := q$ for $j = \{0, 1\}$. We declare that a set $E \subseteq Q$ belongs to Q if and only if $\pi_0(E)$ is a Borel subset of \mathbb{R} (in other words, Q is the pushforward of the Borel σ -algebra of \mathbb{R} under the map $i_0 : \mathbb{R} \hookrightarrow Q$), and

$$\mathfrak{q} := i_{0\#} \mathscr{L}^1 + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \delta_{(n,1)},$$

where \mathscr{L}^1 stands for the one-dimensional Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} .

Proposition 4.3 Let (X, d, m) be an isotropic PI space and $f \in BV(X)$. Fix a countable Borel partition $(\Gamma_n)_n$ of J_f with the following property: for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there is $t_n \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\{\overline{f} > t_n\}$ is of finite perimeter and $\Gamma_n \subseteq \partial^* \{\overline{f} > t_n\}$. Let (Q, Q, q)be as in Remark 4.2 and define

$$\mu_q^f := \begin{cases} P(\{\bar{f} > t\}, \cdot)|_{X_{\bar{f}} \setminus J_f} & \text{if } q = (t, 0) \text{ for some } t \in \mathbb{R}, \\ (f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge})P(\{\bar{f} > t_n\}, \cdot)|_{\Gamma_n} & \text{if } q = (n, 1) \text{ for some } n \in \mathbb{N} \end{cases}$$

Then $q \mapsto \mu_q^f$ is a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Moreover, it holds that

$$|Df| = \int \mu_q^f \, d\mathfrak{q}(q).$$

Proof It readily follows from Lemma 4.1 that $q \mapsto \mu_q^f$ is a disjoint measure-valued map from Q to X. Moreover, using Theorem 2.22 and (2.9) we see that for any $E \subseteq X$ Borel it holds

$$\begin{split} |Df|(E) &= |Df|(E \cap (\mathbf{X}_f \setminus J_f)) + |Df|(E \cap J_f) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} P(\{\bar{f} > t\}, E \cap (\mathbf{X}_f \setminus J_f)) \, \mathrm{d}t + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{E \cap \Gamma_n} (f^{\vee} - f^{\wedge}) \, \mathrm{d}P(\{\bar{f} > t_n\}, \cdot) \\ &= \int \mu_{(t,0)}^f(E) \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^1(t) + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mu_{(n,1)}^f(E) = \int \mu_q^f(E) \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(q). \end{split}$$

This proves that $|Df| = \int \mu_q^f dq(q)$, thus accordingly the statement is achieved. \Box

Theorem 4.4 Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space, with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$. Let $f \in BV(X)$ be given. Let $q \mapsto \mu_q^f$ be defined as in Proposition 4.3. Let us also define $(L^0_{\mu_f}(TX), \Theta_f, \Phi_f)$ as

$$\begin{split} L^0_{\mu^f_{\star}}(T\mathbf{X}) &:= \{L^0_{\mu^f_q}(T\mathbf{X})\}_{q \in \mathcal{Q}},\\ \Theta_f &:= \big\{ [v]_{\mu^f_{\star}} \in \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}} \big(L^0_{\mu^f_{\star}}(T\mathbf{X}) \big) \mid v \in \operatorname{Test}(T\mathbf{X}) \big\},\\ \Phi_f &:= \big\{ [f]_{\mu^f_{\star}} \in L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mu^f_{\star})) \mid f \in \operatorname{Test}(\mathbf{X}) \big\}. \end{split}$$

Then $\left(L^{0}_{\mu^{f}_{\star}}(TX), \Theta_{f}, \Phi_{f}\right)$ is an L^{0} -Banach L^{0} -module bundle consistent with $q \mapsto \mu^{f}_{a}$. Moreover,

$$L^0_{|Df|}(T\mathbf{X}) \cong \int L^0_{\mu^f_q}(T\mathbf{X}) \, d\mathfrak{q}(q),$$

the isomorphism $I_f: L^0_{|Df|}(TX) \to \int L^0_{\mu^f_q}(TX) d\mathfrak{q}(q)$ being the unique homomorphism satisfying

$$I_f([v]_{|Df|}) = \int [v]_{\mu_f^q} d\mathfrak{q}(q) \quad \text{for every } v \in \text{Test}(T\mathbf{X}).$$

Proof It is enough to show that we are in position to apply Theorem 3.9 with suitable choices of the objects involved. Indeed, with the notation therein let $v := \operatorname{Cap} \mu_q := \mu_q^f$ and notice that $\mu_q^f \ll \operatorname{Cap}$, as a consequence of (2.7). Let $\mathscr{M} := L^0_{\operatorname{Cap}}(TX)$, $\mathscr{A} := \operatorname{Test}(X)$, and $\mathscr{V} := \operatorname{Test}(TX)$. With these choices \mathscr{A} is a generating subalgebra of $L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ and \mathscr{V} is a vector subspace of \mathscr{M} and a module over \mathscr{A} , which generates the $L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ -Banach $L^0(\operatorname{Cap})$ -module \mathscr{M} .

4.2 Vector fields on the integral lines of a gradient

We recall here the theory of 1D-localisation, referring the reader to [15, 17–19]. In particular, for the general construction we follow the presentation of [19], where it is not assumed that $\mathfrak{m}(X) = 1$. Let $(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ be an $\mathsf{RCD}(K, N)$ space, with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$. Given any 1-Lipschitz function $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$, its *transport set* T_u is defined as the Borel set

$$\mathcal{T}_u := \left\{ x \in \mathbf{X} \mid |u(x) - u(y)| = \mathsf{d}(x, y) \text{ for some } y \in \mathbf{X} \setminus \{x\} \right\}.$$

The transport set \mathcal{T}_u can be written (up to m-null sets) as the union of a family $\{X_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in Q}$ of *transport rays* (see [15, Theorem 5.5]). Each X_α is isometric to a closed real interval I_α , i.e. we can find a surjective isometry $\gamma_\alpha \colon I_\alpha \to X_\alpha$. Given any $\alpha, \beta \in Q$ with $\alpha \neq \beta$, we also have that

$$\gamma_{\alpha}(\overset{\circ}{I_{\alpha}}) \cap \gamma_{\beta}(\overset{\circ}{I_{\beta}}) = \varnothing.$$

Moreover, one can find a σ -algebra Q on Q, a finite measure $\mathfrak{q} \ge 0$ on (Q, Q), and a disjoint measure-valued map $\alpha \mapsto \mathfrak{m}_{\alpha}$ from Q to X such that $\mathfrak{m}_{\alpha}(X \setminus X_{\alpha}) = 0$ for every $\alpha \in Q$ and

$$\mathfrak{m}|_{\mathcal{T}_u}=\int\mathfrak{m}_\alpha\,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{q}(\alpha).$$

In addition, it holds that $\mathfrak{m}_{\alpha} = h_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}^1|_{X_{\alpha}}$ for some Borel function $h_{\alpha} \colon I_{\alpha} \to (0, +\infty)$ (where \mathcal{H}^1 stands for the one-dimensional Hausdorff measure) and the space $(X_{\alpha}, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m}_{\alpha})$ is an RCD(K, N) space (see [18, Theorem 4.2]). In particular, the tangent module $L^0(TX_{\alpha})$ can be identified with $L^0(\mathfrak{m}_{\alpha})$ via the differential operator $d\gamma_{\alpha} \colon L^0(\mathfrak{m}_{\alpha}) \to L^0(TX_{\alpha})$ of γ_{α} (in the sense of [30]).

Given any $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ Lipschitz and $\alpha \in Q$, we define

$$\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} f(x) := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} (f \circ \gamma_{\alpha})(t) \bigg|_{t = \gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}(x)} \quad \text{for } \mathcal{H}^{1}\text{-a.e. } x \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha}.$$
(4.3)

The resulting function $\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} f : X_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}$ is an element of $L^{0}(\mathfrak{m}_{\alpha})$. We denote by $\tilde{\partial}_{\star} f$ the map $Q \ni \alpha \mapsto \tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} f \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{m}_{\alpha})$ up to quotient q-a.e. It also follows from the results of [19, Section 4.1] that $\tilde{\partial}_{\star} f \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mathfrak{m}_{\star}))$, and [19, Theorem 4.5] ensures that

$$\tilde{\partial} f := \mathbf{i}_{\mathfrak{q}}^{-1}(\tilde{\partial}_{\star} f) = -\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{T}_{u}}^{\mathfrak{m}} \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \in L^{0}(\mathfrak{m}|_{\mathcal{T}_{u}}).$$

$$(4.4)$$

Indeed, the infinitesimal Hilbertianity assumption gives $D^- f(-\nabla u) = D^+ f(-\nabla u) = -\langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle$ (cf. with [25]). From the very definition in (4.3) and the fact that given $t, s \in I_{\alpha}$ with s > t, $u(\gamma_{\alpha}(t)) - u(\gamma_{\alpha}(s)) = |s - t|$, it follows that for q-a.e. α , $\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha}u(x) = 1$ for \mathcal{H}^1 -a.e. $x \in X_{\alpha}$. Thus

$$\mathbb{1}_{T_u}^{\mathfrak{m}} |\nabla u| = |\mathbf{i}_{\mathfrak{q}}^{-1}(\tilde{\partial}_\star u)| = 1$$

$$\tag{4.5}$$

holds m-a.e. on \mathcal{T}_u . We define $L^0(TX_{\star}) := \{L^0(TX_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in Q}$ and $\partial_{\star} f \in \mathscr{S}_{\mathfrak{q}}(L^0(TX_{\star}))$ as

$$\partial_{\alpha} f := \mathrm{d} \gamma_{\alpha}(\tilde{\partial}_{\alpha} f) \in L^0(T\mathbf{X}_{\alpha}) \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{q}\text{-a.e. } \alpha \in Q.$$

Given $v \in L^0(TX)$ and a Borel set $A \subseteq X$, we denote the $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -Banach $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -module generated by v on A as

$$\langle v \rangle_A := \left\{ \mathbb{1}_A^{\mathfrak{m}} f \cdot v \mid f \in L^0(\mathfrak{m}) \right\}.$$

Theorem 4.5 Let (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) be an $\mathsf{RCD}(K, N)$ space, with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$. Let $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a given 1-Lipschitz function. Let us define $\Theta^u \subseteq \mathscr{S}_q(L^0(TX_\star))$ as

$$\Theta^{u} := \bigg\{ \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{E_{n}}^{\mathfrak{q}} \partial_{\star} f_{n} \bigg| (E_{n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{Q} \text{ partition of } Q, (f_{n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathrm{LIP}(\mathbf{X}) \bigg\}.$$

🖄 Springer

Then $(L^0(TX_*), \Theta^u, L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mathfrak{m}_*)))$ is an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $\alpha \mapsto \mathfrak{m}_{\alpha}$. Also,

$$\int L^0(T\mathbf{X}_\alpha)\,d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha)\cong \langle \nabla u\rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u}\subseteq L^0(T\mathbf{X}),$$

the canonical isomorphism J_u : $\int L^0(TX_\alpha) d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha) \rightarrow \langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u}$ being the unique homomorphism with

$$J_{u}\left(\int \partial_{\alpha} f \, d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha)\right) = -\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{T}_{u}}^{\mathfrak{m}} \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \nabla u \quad \text{for every } f: \mathbf{X} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ Lipschitz}$$

Proof Since Θ^{u} is a module over $L^{0}(\mathfrak{q}; L^{0}(\mathfrak{m}_{\star}))$ and for any $v_{\star} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{E_{n}}^{\mathfrak{q}} \partial_{\star} f_{n} \in \Theta^{u}$ we have

$$|v_{\star}| = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{q}} |\partial_{\star} f_n| = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{1}_{E_n}^{\mathfrak{q}} |\tilde{\partial}_{\star} f_n| \stackrel{(4.4)}{\in} L^0(\mathfrak{m}|_{\mathcal{T}_u}),$$

we obtain that $(L^0(TX_*), \Theta^u, L^0(\mathfrak{q}; L^0(\mathfrak{m}_*)))$ is an L^0 -Banach L^0 -module bundle consistent with $\alpha \mapsto \mathfrak{m}_{\alpha}$. Now let us define the operator $\tilde{J}_u: \{\partial_* f \mid f \in LIP(X)\} \rightarrow \langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u}$ as

$$\tilde{J}_u(\partial_\star f) := -\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{I}_u}^{\mathfrak{m}} \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \nabla u \text{ for every } f \in \mathrm{LIP}(\mathbf{X}).$$

Since $\{\partial_{\star} f : f \in LIP(X)\}$ generates $\int L^0(TX_{\alpha}) dq(\alpha)$ and we can estimate

$$|\tilde{\mathbf{J}}_{u}(\partial_{\star}f)| = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{T}_{u}}^{\mathfrak{m}} |\langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle| |\nabla u| \stackrel{(4,4)}{=} |\partial_{\star}f| \quad \text{for every } f \in \mathrm{LIP}(\mathbf{X}),$$

the map \tilde{J}_u can be uniquely extended to a homomorphism $J_u: \int L^0(TX_\alpha) dq(\alpha) \rightarrow \langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u}$ that preserves the pointwise norm. Finally, let us check that J_u is surjective. Fix an arbitrary element of $\langle \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{T}_u}$, which can be written (uniquely) as $h \nabla u$ for some $h \in L^0(\mathfrak{m}|_{\mathcal{T}_u})$. Hence, we have that

$$\mathbf{J}_{u}(-h\cdot\partial_{\star}u) = -h\cdot\mathbf{J}_{u}(\partial_{\star}u) = h\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{T}_{u}}^{\mathfrak{m}}\langle\nabla u,\nabla u\rangle\nabla u = h\nabla u,$$

thus proving the surjectivity of J_u . Consequently, the statement is achieved.

Remark 4.6 We point out that the above results hold in the more general setting of essentially non-branching, infinitesimally Hilbertian MCP(K, N) spaces.

4.3 Unit normals and gradient lines

In this conclusive section, we combine the results of Sects. 4.1 and 4.2. First, we recall the following result, which follows from [14, Theorem 2.4]:

Theorem 4.7 (Gauss–Green) Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space. Let $E \subseteq X$ be a set of finite perimeter with $m(E) < +\infty$. Then there exists a unique element $v_E \in L^0_{P(E, \cdot)}(TX)$ such that

$$\int_{E} \operatorname{div}(v) \, d\mathfrak{m} = -\int \langle [v]_{P(E,\cdot)}, v_E \rangle \, dP(E, \cdot) \quad \text{for every } v \in \operatorname{Test}(T\mathbf{X}).$$

The identity $|v_E| = 1$ holds $P(E, \cdot)$ -a.e. on X. Moreover, if $\varphi \colon X \to \mathbb{R}$ is bounded Lipschitz, then

$$\int_{E} \operatorname{div}(\varphi v) \, d\mathfrak{m} = -\int \varphi \langle [v]_{P(E,\cdot)}, v_E \rangle \, dP(E,\cdot) \quad \text{for every } v \in \operatorname{Test}(TX)$$

Remark 4.8 Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space with $m(X) < +\infty$ and let $u : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a Lipschitz function. Then we know from [28, Remark 3.5] that $u \in BV(X)$ and $|Du| = \operatorname{lip}(u)m$. In particular, if $\mathcal{T}_u = X$ up to m-null sets, then |Du| = m and thus $m = \int_{\mathbb{R}} P(\{u > t\}, \cdot) dt$. Notice also that, since u is continuous, it holds that $\overline{u} = u$, so that $X_u = X$ and $J_u = \emptyset$. Therefore, we have that $t \mapsto \mu_t^u := P(\{u > t\}, \cdot)$ is a disjoint measure-valued map from \mathbb{R} to X and Theorem 4.4 provides an isomorphism of $L^0(m)$ -Banach $L^0(m)$ -modules $I_u : L^0(TX) \to \int L_{u^u}^0(TX) dt$.

Now we are in a position to state and prove the main result of this section:

Theorem 4.9 Let (X, d, m) be an RCD(K, N) space with $m(X) < +\infty$. Fix a 1-Lipschitz function $u: X \to [0, +\infty)$ such that $\mathcal{T}_u = X$ up to m-negligible sets. Let $I_u: L^0(TX) \to \int L^0_{\mu^u_t}(TX) dt$ and $J_u: \int L^0(TX_\alpha) d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha) \to \langle \nabla u \rangle_X$ be as in Remark 4.8 and Theorem 4.5, respectively. Then

$$(\mathbf{I}_{u} \circ \mathbf{J}_{u}) \left(\int \partial_{\alpha} u \, d\mathfrak{q}(\alpha) \right) = - \int_{\mathbb{R}} \nu_{\{u>t\}} \, dt \in \int L^{0}_{\mu^{u}_{t}}(T\mathbf{X}) \, dt.$$

Proof For brevity, we denote $\partial_{\star} u = \int \partial_{\alpha} u \, dq(\alpha)$ and $V := (I_u \circ J_u)(\partial_{\star} u) \in \int L^0_{\mu^u_t}(TX) \, dt$. Fix a countable dense subset C of Test(X). Notice that the family \mathcal{F} of those elements of Test(TX) of the form $\sum_{i=1}^n g_i \bar{\nabla} f_i$ for some $f_i, g_i \in C$ generates $L^0_{Can}(TX)$. If $\varphi \in \text{LIP}_{bs}(\mathbb{R})$ and $f, g \in C$, then

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \varphi(t) \int g \langle [\nabla f]_{\mu_{t}^{u}}, V_{t} \rangle dP(\{u > t\}, \cdot) dt$$

= $\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int [\langle \varphi \circ u \, g \nabla f, J_{u}(\partial_{\star} u) \rangle]_{\mu_{t}^{u}} dP(\{u > t\}, \cdot) dt$
= $-\int \langle \varphi \circ u \, g \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle dm = \int u \operatorname{div}(\varphi \circ u \, g \nabla f) dm$
= $\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{\{u > t\}} \operatorname{div}(\varphi \circ u \, g \nabla f) dm dt$

Springer

$$= -\int_0^{+\infty} \int \varphi \circ u g \langle [\nabla f]_{\mu_t^u}, \nu_{\{u>t\}} \rangle dP(\{u>t\}, \cdot) dt$$
$$= -\int_0^{+\infty} \varphi(t) \int g \langle [\nabla f]_{\mu_t^u}, \nu_{\{u>t\}} \rangle dP(\{u>t\}, \cdot) dt,$$

where we used Remark 4.8, the layer cake representation formula, Theorem 4.7, and the fact that the measure $\mu_t^u = P(\{u > t\}, \cdot)$ is concentrated on $\partial\{u > t\} \subseteq \{u = t\}$. Thanks to the arbitrariness of $\varphi \in \text{LIP}_{bs}(\mathbb{R})$, we deduce that for every $f, g \in C$ it holds that

$$\int \langle g[\nabla f]_t, V_t \rangle \, \mathrm{d}P(\{u > t\}, \cdot)$$

= $-\int \langle g[\nabla f]_t, v_{\{u > t\}} \rangle \, \mathrm{d}P(\{u > t\}, \cdot) \quad \text{for } \mathcal{L}^1 \text{-a.e. } t \in \mathbb{R}$

Since \mathcal{F} is countable, we can find a \mathscr{L}^1 -null set $N \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ such that $\int \langle w, V_t \rangle d\mu_t^u = -\int \langle w, v_{\{u>t\}} \rangle d\mu_t^u$ holds for every $t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus N$ and $w \in \mathcal{F}$. It follows that $V_t = -v_{\{u>t\}}$ for \mathcal{L}^1 -a.e. $t \in \mathbb{R}$, so that accordingly $(I_u \circ J_u)(\partial_\star u) = V = -v_{\{u>\star\}}$. Therefore, the proof of the statement is complete.

Observe that Theorem 4.9 applies, for example, to $u := \mathsf{d}(\cdot, \bar{x})$ for any point $\bar{x} \in X$.

Remark 4.10 We point out that Theorem 4.4 can be generalised to functions of *local bounded variation*, thus in turn the finiteness assumption on m in Theorem 4.9 can be dropped. However, we do not pursue this goal here, since the results are already quite technically demanding.

Acknowledgements E.C. acknowledges the support from the Academy of Finland, grants no. 314789 and 321896. M. L. and I. V. gratefully acknowledge the financial support of the Ministry of Science, Technological Development and Innovation of the Republic of Serbia (Grants No. 451-03-66/2024-03/200125 & 451-03-65/2024-03/200125). The author thank the anonymous referees for their useful comments, which led to a significant improvement of the contents and presentation of this paper.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors have no Conflict of interest to disclose.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

1. Ambrosio, L.: Fine properties of sets of finite perimeter in doubling metric measure spaces. Set Val. Anal. **10**, 111–128 (2002)

- Ambrosio, L.: Calculus, heat flow and curvature-dimension bounds in metric measure spaces. In: Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians—Rio de Janeiro 2018. vol. I. Plenary lectures, pp. 301–340. World Scientific Publishing, NJ (2018)
- Ambrosio, L., Di Marino, S.: Equivalent definitions of BV space and of total variation on metric measure spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 266(7), 4150–4188 (2014)
- Ambrosio, L., Gigli, N., Savaré, G.: Density of Lipschitz functions and equivalence of weak gradients in metric measure spaces. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 29(3), 969–996 (2013)
- Ambrosio, L., Miranda, M., Jr., Pallara, D.: Special functions of bounded variation in doubling metric measure spaces. In: Calculus of variations: topics from the mathematical heritage of E. De Giorgi. Quad Mat, vol. 14, pp. 1–45. Department of Mathematics Seconda University, Napoli, Caserta (2004)
- Ambrosio, L., Miranda, M., Jr., Pallara, D.: Special functions of bounded variation in doubling metric measure spaces. Quad. Mat. 14, 1–45 (2004)
- Ambrosio, L., Mondino, A., Savaré, G.: On the Bakry–Émery condition, the gradient estimates and the local-to-global property of *RCD*^{*}(*K*, *N*) metric measure spaces. J. Geom. Anal. 26(1), 1–33 (2014)
- Ambrosio, L., Tilli, P.: Topics on Analysis in Metric Spaces. Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and Its Applications (2004)
- 9. Antonelli, G., Pasqualetto, E., Pozzetta, M.: Isoperimetric sets in spaces with lower bounds on the Ricci curvature. Nonlinear Anal. 220, 112839 (2022)
- Björn, A., Björn, J.: Nonlinear Potential Theory on Metric Spaces. EMS Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 17. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich (2011)
- 11. Bonicatto, P., Pasqualetto, E., Rajala, T.: Indecomposable sets of finite perimeter in doubling metric measure spaces. Calc. Var. Partial Diff. Equ. **59**(2), 63 (2020)
- 12. Brena, C., Gigli, N.: Calculus and fine properties of functions of bounded variation on RCD spaces. J. Geom. Anal. **34**, 11 (2024)
- Brué, E., Pasqualetto, E., Semola, D.: Constancy of the dimension in codimension one and locality of the unit normal on RCD(K, N) spaces. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. XXIV(3), 1765–1816 (2023)
- 14. Brué, E., Pasqualetto, E., Semola, D.: Rectifiability of the reduced boundary for sets of finite perimeter over RCD(*K*, *N*) spaces. J. Eur. Math. Soc. **25**, 413–465 (2023)
- Cavalletti, F.: Monge problem in metric measure spaces with Riemannian curvature-dimension condition. Nonlinear Anal. 99, 136–151 (2014)
- Cavalletti, F.: An overview of L¹ optimal transportation on metric measure spaces. In Measure Theory in Non-smooth Spaces, Partial Differential Equations Measurement Theory, pp 98–144. De Gruyter Open, Warsaw (2017)
- Cavalletti, F., Milman, E.: The globalization theorem for the curvature-dimension condition. Invent. Math. 226(1), 1–137 (2021)
- Cavalletti, F., Mondino, A.: Sharp and rigid isoperimetric inequalities in metric-measure spaces with lower Ricci curvature bounds. Invent. Math. 208(3), 803–849 (2017)
- Cavalletti, F., Mondino, A.: New formulas for the Laplacian of distance functions and applications. Anal. PDE 13(7), 2091–2147 (2020)
- Cheeger, J.: Differentiability of Lipschitz functions on metric measure spaces. Geom. Funct. Anal. 9(3), 428–517 (1999)
- Debin, C., Gigli, N., Pasqualetto, E.: Quasi-continuous vector fields on RCD spaces. Potential Anal. 54, 183–211 (2021)
- Denneberg, D.: Non-Additive Measure and Integral, Theory and Decision Library B. Springer, Netherlands (2010)
- Di Marino, S., Lučić, D., Pasqualetto, E.: Representation Theorems for Normed Modules (2021). Preprint, arXiv:2109.03509
- 24. Dunford, N., Schwartz, J.: Linear operators, part I: general theory. Interscience Publishers, Pure and applied mathematics (1958)
- Gigli, N.: On the differential structure of metric measure spaces and applications. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 236(1113), vi+91 (2015)
- Gigli, N.: Lecture Notes on Differential Calculus on RCD Spaces. Publications RIMS Kyoto University, p. 54 (2018)
- 27. Gigli, N.: Nonsmooth differential geometry—an approach tailored for spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. **251**, v+161 (2018)

- Gigli, N., Han, B.: Independence on p of weak upper gradients on RCD spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 271(1), 1–11 (2016)
- Gigli, N., Lučić, D., Pasqualetto, E.: Duals and pullbacks of normed modules. To appear in: Israel Journal of Mathematics (2022). arXiv:2207.04972
- Gigli, N., Pasqualetto, E.: Equivalence of two different notions of tangent bundle on rectifiable metric measure spaces. Commun. Anal. Geom. 30, 1–51 (2022)
- Guo, T.X.: Radon–Nikodým property of conjugate Banach spaces and the w*-equivalence theorem for w*-μ-measurable functions. Sci. China Ser. A 39(10), 1034–1041 (1996)
- Guo, T.X.: Some basic theories of random normed linear spaces and random inner product spaces. Acta Anal. Funct. Appl. 1, 160–184 (1999)
- Guo, T.X.: Representation theorems of the dual of Lebesgue–Bochner function spaces. Sci. China Ser. A 43(3), 234–243 (2000)
- Guo, T.X.: Relations between some basic results derived form two kinds of topologies for a random locally convex module. J. Funct. Anal. 258(9), 3024–3047 (2010)
- Guo, T.X.: Recent progress in random metric theory and its applications to conditional risk measures. Sci. China Math. 54, 633–660 (2011)
- Guo, T.X., Li, S.B.: The James theorem in complete random normed modules. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 308(1), 257–265 (2005)
- Haydon, R., Levy, M., Raynaud, Y.: Randomly Normed Spaces. Travaux en Cours [Works in Progress], vol. 41. Hermann, Paris (1991)
- Heinonen, J., Koskela, P., Shanmugalingam, N., Tyson, J.T.: Sobolev Spaces on Metric Measure Spaces. An Approach Based on Upper Gradients. New Mathematical Monographs, vol. 27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2015)
- Kinnunen, J., Korte, R., Shanmugalingam, N., Tuominen, H.: Pointwise properties of functions of bounded variation in metric spaces. Rev. Mat. Complut. 27, 41–67 (2014)
- Klartag, B.: Needle decompositions in Riemannian geometry. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 249(1180), v+77 (2017)
- Lott, J., Villani, C.: Ricci curvature for metric-measure spaces via optimal transport. Ann. Math. 169(3), 903–991 (2009)
- 42. Lučić, D., Pasqualetto, E.: An Axiomatic Theory of Normed Modules via Riesz Spaces (2023). Preprint, arXiv:2306.12238
- Miranda, M., Jr.: Functions of bounded variation on "good" metric spaces. J. Math. Pures Appl. 82(8), 975–1004 (2003)
- Rajala, T.: Local Poincaré inequalities from stable curvature conditions on metric spaces. Calc. Var. Partial Diff. Equ. 44(3–4), 477–494 (2012)
- 45. Savaré, G.: Self-improvement of the Bakry–Émery condition and Wasserstein contraction of the heat flow in $RCD(K, \infty)$ metric measure spaces. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **34**(4), 1641–1661 (2014)
- 46. Savaré, G.: Sobolev spaces in extended metric-measure spaces. In: New Trends on Analysis and Geometry in Metric Spaces. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 117–276 (2022)
- Schweizer, B., Sklar, A.: Probabilistic Metric Spaces. North-Holland Series in Probability and Applied Mathematics. North-Holland Publishing Co., New York (1983)
- 48. Sturm, K.-T.: On the geometry of metric measure spaces. II. Acta Math. 196(1), 133–177 (2006)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.